NUCLEASE PRESENT IN MOUSE SPERMATOZOA AND SURROUNDING FLUID FROM THE VAS DEFERENS

A THESIS SUBMITTED TO THE GRADUATE DIVISION OF THE University Of Hawai'i In Partial Fulfillment Of The Requirements For The Degree Of

MASTERS OF SCIENCE

In

BIOMEDICAL SCIENCES (CELL AND MOLECULAR BIOLOGY)

MAY 2008

By Kenneth Dominguez

Thesis Committee:

W. Steven Ward, Chairperson Stefan Moisyadi Helen Turner We certify that we have read this thesis and that, in our opinion, it is satisfactory in scope and quality as a thesis for the degree of Master of Science in Cell and Molecular Biology.

THESIS COMMITTEE

Chainperson

7 0

012

Table of Contents

LIST OF TABLES	
LIST OF FIGURES	VII
ABSTRACT	IX
CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION	
1.1. Spermatogenesis	1
1.2. Spermatozoan Maturation	
1.3. Apoptosis	7
1.4. ROLE OF TOPOISOMERASE II IN APOPTOSIS	9
1.5. Apoptosis in Sperm	9
1.6. NUCLEASE ACTIVITY	
1.7. Sperm Chromatin Degradation by Topoisomerase II And An As Yet Unid	ENTIFIED
NUCLEASE	
CHAPTER 2. MATERIALS AND METHODS	
2.1. ANIMALS	
2.2. EXTRACTION OF SPERM FROM EPIDIDYMIS AND VAS DEFERENS	15
2.3. FRACTIONATION OF SPERM FLUIDS AND PREPARATION OF EXTRACTS.	
2.4. ISOLATION OF PLASMID DNA	16
2.5. CAPO ₄ Precipitation of Sperm Extract	
2.6. NUCLEASE ASSAY	
2.7. SDS-PAGE SILVER STAINING	
2.8. Specific Activity	
2.8.1. Total Protein Determination	
	iii

2.8.2. Determination of Nuclease Units	
CHAPTER 3. RESULTS	
3.1. MN/CA DEPENDENT NUCLEASE (MCN) IS PRESENT IN	ALL COMPONENTS OF THE LUMINAL
FLUID	
3.1.1. MCN is Present in Two Fractions of the Lumi	nal Fluid23
3.1.2. Evidence that MCN is Present in Lipid Vesicle	es in the Luminal Fluid25
3.1.3. MCN Can be Activated in Spermatozoa with	Prior Mn ⁺² and Ca ⁺² Treatment30
3.1.4. Ion Specificity of MCN	
3.2. Spermatozoa Contain a Nuclease that can be Act	IVATED BY EGTA, (EGTA ACTIVATED
NUCLEASE, OR EAN)	
3.2.1. EDTA and EGTA Activate MCN	
3.2.2. EGTA Activated MCN Can Digest DNA in the	e Presence of Ca ²⁺ 40
3.2.3. EGTA can Activate EAN at Lower Concentra	tions than EDTA43
3.2.4. Spermatozoa Digest their DNA with EGTA P	retreatment Followed by Ca ²⁺
Treatment: Evidence that EAN is a Sperm Nucleas	2
3.2.5. EAN Activity is Stronger in the Vas Deferens	Luminal Fluid than in the
Epdidiymis	
3.3. EAN IS PRESENT IN ALL LUMINAL FLUID FRACTIONSBUT	Appears to be Most Highly
Concentrated in Lipid Vesicles	
3.3.1. EAN Activity is Present in Vas Deferens Lipid	Vesicles49
3.3.2 Fractionation of the Vas Deferens Lipid Vesi	cles to Enrich for EAN Activity51
3.4. EGTA ACTIVATES EAN ONLY IN THE PRESENCE OF CA2+	: EVIDENCE THAT EAN IS ACTIVATED BY
CA ²⁺ -CHELATED EGTA	
3.4.1. EAN Appears to be Bound to Vesicle Membra	nes

3.4.2. EAN in Supernatants May also be Membrane Bound	
3.4.3. EGTA Activation is Not Permanent	60
3.4.4. EGTA Activation of Soluble EAN is Also Not Permanent.	
3.4.5. EGTA Chelated to Ca³*Activates EAN	
CHAPTER 4. DISCUSSION	
4.1. EAN'S REQUIREMENT FOR BOTH EGTA AND CA2+ IS UNIQUE AMONG NUCLEASES	
4.2. EAN'S RELATIONSHIP TO MCN.	
4.3. MODEL FOR EGTA ACTIVATION OF EAN.	
4.4. SIGNIFICANCE OF EAN	
4.5. SUMMARY	
BIBLIOGRAPHY	

List of Tables

<u>TABLE</u>	PAGE
1	

.

List of Figures

FIGURE	PAGE
1.1	4
3.1	
3.2	
3.3	
3.4	
3.5	
3.6	
3.7	
3.8	
3.9	
3.10	
3.11	
3.12	
3.13	
3.14	
3.15	

3.164	6
3.17	8
3.18	D
3.19	2
3.20	4
3.21	8
3.22б	4
3.23	7
4.17	1
4.2	4

Abstract

Previous work in our laboratory demonstrated that mouse sperm contain a nuclease that digests chromatin in conjunction with topoisomerase IIB (TOB2B). The focus of this thesis was to develop protocols to enrich this nuclease from sperm preparations and to provide preliminary characterization of its biochemistry. We found that a nuclease that required Mn⁺² and Ca²⁺ for full activity was present in the sperm cell and in the fluid surrounding the sperm cell in the vas deferens of the mouse. During our fractionation procedures, we discovered that this nuclease has the unique property of requiring incubation first with EGTA, and then with Ca⁺² to become activated. We term this nuclease EAN, or EGTA activated nuclease. Understanding the biochemical nature of sperm nucleases has important implications for assisted reproductive technologies (ART) because spermatozoa are manipulated and often stored during these processes. Therefore, we examined the role of EGTA in EAN digestion of DNA. We first hypothesized that EAN could become activated through one of the following pathways. (1) EGTA could initiate a complex cell-signaling pathway resulting in the activation of EAN, which then requires Ca^{+2} to digest DNA. (2) EAN could be inhibited by Ca⁺² binding protein; EGTA releases EAN from this inhibition, and additional Ca⁺² then binds to EAN enabling it to digest DNA. (3) EGTA chelates some other divalent cation (not Ca²⁺) that inhibits EAN, and EAN then requires Ca^{*2} to digest DNA. To test these possibilities, we developed a plasmid-based assay, in which a soluble fraction from the vas deferens luminal fluid enriched for

EAN was mixed with plasmid DNA and molded into agarose plugs. The nuclease and its target DNA were sequestered within the agarose plugs, which could then be incubated in different conditions to determine the effects of EGTA and Ca⁺². All buffers contained 50 mM Tris, pH 7.5, 100 mM KCl (TKB). When plugs were incubated first in EGTA (10 to 30 mM), then in CaCl₂ (1 to 10 mM), the plasmid DNA was digested as expected, and if either EGTA or Ca⁺² was omitted, the DNA remained intact. These results verified that presence of both EGTA and Ca⁺² was required for nuclease activity and confirmed that the newly developed plasmidbased assay is suitable for testing EAN. Our next goal was to dissect the combined action of EGTA and Ca⁺² to determine what role these components play individually. When we incubated plugs in EGTA, then in TKB alone to extract the EGTA, then in Ca⁺², we found that the DNA was not digested. When plugs were incubated in EGTA, then TKB alone, then EGTA again, and then Ca⁺², EAN became activated and the plasmid DNA was digested. These results were inconsistent with all three possibilities because the TKB incubation between the EGTA and Ca⁺² treatments should not have reversed either a complex cell signal pathway or reintroduced an extracted cation. They compelled us to test a fourth possibility, that EAN was activated by the presence of EGTA and Ca⁺² in the same buffer. When plugs were incubated in one buffer with 2.5 mM EGTA and 2 mM Ca⁺², DNA was digested. Because under these conditions most of the Ca⁺² is expected to be

chelated to EGTA, and because our experiments have repeatedly demonstrated that both EGTA and Ca^{+2} are required for EAN to digest DNA, we are currently investigating the possibility that it is actually the EGTA chelated to Ca^{+2} that activates EAN.

Chapter 1. Introduction

1.1. Spermatogenesis

Sperm formation begins with round diploid spermatogonia, which differentiate to condensed haploid spermatozoa. Spermatogenesis is characterized by two major stages: spermatocytogenesis and spermiogenesis.

During spermatocytogenesis progenitor spermatogonia cells are sustained by repeated mitotic divisions in which they proliferate and remain diploid [1]. The path towards spermatozoan production arises when a diploid spermatogonia undergoes a round of mitosis to form the primary spermatocyte, which then duplicates its DNA and undergoes genetic recombination and meiosis I, forming two diploid secondary spermatocytes. These cells then divide to form four haploid spermatids. Spermiogenesis, the last stage of spermatogenesis, begins with the differentiation of spermatids, with the aid of Sertoli cells, resulting in the elongation and condensing of the nuclei [2]. During spermiogenesis the spermatid ejects the majority of its cytoplasm [3] while the histones of the somatic-like nuclear chromatin are replaced with sperm-specific nucleoproteins [2, 4], which organizes the DNA more tightly and further compresses the chromatin. The increase in chromatin compression has been attributed to the replacement of histones with protamines [5], which results in a distinctive spermatozoan chromatin organization [6-8]. Protamine organized chromatin forms toroid shaped "doughnuts" which loop in 50 kb sections [9]. As compression with

protamines is greater than with histones, it is currently thought that transcription of DNA is highly unlikely. Also, since far less DNA is exposed the integrity of the genetic information is better protected than in somatic cells. The extent of genetic protection and integrity provided by the sperm cell has been tested in various ways with viability determined by the ability of the sperm nuclei to decondense and form pronuclei after injection into an oocyte. Hamster, mouse, and human spermatozoa were shown to be moderately heat stable at an upper temperature of 90ºC for 30 minutes while remaining viable. Temperatures higher than 90ºC drastically reduced viability [10]. The viability of mouse and human spermatozoa were also tested against sonication and viability was maintained when injected into the oocyte immediately after sonication [11]. Lastly, viability was also successfully confirmed after freeze-drying spermatozoa and injecting into an oocyte. For sperm to be viable it was thought that all histones were required to be replaced with protamines during the morphological changes that occur during spermiogenesis, as the presence of histones in mature spermatozoa has been linked to infertility and interpreted as evidence suggesting defective chromatin repackaging during spermiogenesis [12]. Alternatively, the presence of histones in the mature spermatozoa has also been interpreted as evidence for the possibility of DNA transcription during early embryonic development [13]. In either case, however, the points where sperm DNA intersects with the nuclear matrix have less protamine bound DNA and therefore is more sensitive to DNA manipulation by

topoisomerase II-beta and nucleases [14] or, in the transcriptionally active spermatozoan model, genetic transcription [15].

1.2. Spermatozoan Maturation.

Spermatozoa exit from the testis fully formed yet immature as they are immotile, cannot locate the oocyte, and cannot undergo an acrosomal reaction in order to penetrate the zona pellucida of the oocyte. It is the migration through the epididymis where the sperm cell undergoes a process, known as maturation, and exits fully capable of fertilization (Fig. 1.1) [16-19].

The maturation [20] of the sperm cell has been the focus of research for many years. Correlations have been made linking sperm cell maturation to interactions of it with various elements found in the luminal fluid of the reproductive tract. Early on it was recognized that epididymal secretions aided sperm cell maturation [16, 17, 21, 22] and aposomes [23-25], apocrine secreted vesicles, are a common method of transferring maturation factors to the sperm cell. Unlike classical merocrine exocytosis, where proteins are processed in the endoplasmic reticulum followed by the Golgi apparatus and finally translocated inside a vesicle to the plasma membrane, during apocrine secretion the protein remains in the cytoplasm and is exported by localizing to apical plasma membrane protrusions, or blebs, which then pinch off into the lumen. Prostasomes, prostrate

Figure 1.1. Sperm Matures in the Epididymis



Gary Hunnicutt, PhD, Population Research Council http://www.popcouncil.org/projects/BIO_SpermMaturation.html aposomes secreted [26-29] into the luminal fluid after the vas deferens but prior to ejaculation, were identified in semen using fusogenic abilities to transfer proteins to sperm cells in-vitro [30-36] yet few proteins were actually transferred when measured in-vivo [26, 37, 38]. Prostasomes were also shown to transfer key lipids to the sperm cell [27, 28, 39] with effects on spermatozoan membrane fluidity [26] and have been shown to interact with sperm in seminal fluid aiding in promotion of forward motility and prevention of premature acrosome reaction. They also have antibacterial, antioxidant, and immunosuppressive actions [23, 26, 37, 38, 40-42]. As such, prostasomes have set the precedent for linking sperm maturation with aposomal interactions.

Epididymosomes, another type of aposome, are secreted from the apical epithelial layer of the epididymis and are physically similar to prostasomes but enters the luminal fluid before ejaculation and differs biochemically [43], therefore is more likely to be related to the normal processing of the sperm cell prior to its journey to fertilize the oocyte. During epididymal transit in mice, epididymosomes have been described as exhibiting an increase in the plasma membrane cholesterol:phospholipid ratio and a decrease in polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs), except sphingomyelin which increases, favoring a loss of fluidity [43]. Sperm membranes evolved in the opposite direction during epididymal transit, with an increase in membrane fluidity suggesting the occurrence of a lipid exchange between sperm cells and epididymosomes [43]. The concentration of sphingomyelin and cholesterol increases during transit through the epididymis. Lipid rafts [44], phospholipid microdomains of the plasma membrane that also exhibit high sphingolipid and cholesterol concentrations, have been found on the surface of epididymosomes [36] and sperm cells. The rafts, on both epididymosomes and sperm cells, present locations where glycosylphosphotidylinositol (GPI)-anchored proteins attach and are suggestive of the possibility that epididymosomes may contribute to the formation of lipid rafts on sperm cells [43].

Differences in protein composition contained by epididymosomes from the caput and cauda have been described in the bovine model [45]. Evidence for the gain of zona pellucida binding function has been suggested with the presence of caput derived P25b (zona pellucida binding protein that attaches to the outer sperm membrane with a glycosylphosphotidyl-inositol anchor) [31, 45] and cauda derived HSP90B1 (chaparone for zona pellucida receptor protein) [45]. Protein P25b also has murine and hamster orthologues, SPAM1 (sperm adhesion molecule 1) [46] and P25h [47, 48], respectively. Additionally, epididymosomes from the caput or cauda epididymis have been biotinylated and incubated with sperm from either the caput or cauda epididymis showing that proteins transfer from caudal epididymosomes to both caput and caudal sperm in the same pattern, but biotinylated caput epididymosomes transfer protein differently to caput sperm compared to caudal sperm, further suggesting that protein transfer occurs in a serial manner and has been correlated with sperm maturation during transit through the epididymis [45].

After maturation, sperm cells exit the cauda epididymis and enter the vas deferens, which is thought to act as a general reservoir for mature spermatozoa. Extensive research has yet to be done regarding the occurrence of similar aposome/spermatozoan activity. It has been shown, however, that the vas deferens also has apocrine activity in the production of a protein called MVDP (mouse vas deferens protein), an aldose-reductase present in the cytoplasm of epithelial cells and the luminal fluid [49] (however, it was recently shown that when MVDP was knocked out in mice the protein was not necessary for sperm maturation [50]). The vas deferens also secretes steroids and removes excess water from the luminal fluid [51].

1.3. Apoptosis

Apoptosis, or the genetically planned death of a cell, has been studied for many years [52] and has traditionally been described as morphologically different from necrosis. Apoptosis begins with cell shrinkage due to the fluctuation of osmotically active ions, such as K⁺, Na⁺, or Cl⁻, followed by detachment from the extracellular matrix. With focal adhesion points gone, the cell undergoing apoptosis then assumes a round shape [53]. The detachment of the plasma membrane from the cytoskeleton follows next giving rise to membrane protrusions, or blebbing. The apoptotic cell then undergoes condensation in which multiple invaginations of the plasma membrane pinch off into sealed vesicle compartments. The nucleus is also pinched off into it's own compartment where nuclear condensation proceeds with the disassembly of the nuclear matrix, nuclear lamina, and the aggregation of chromatin. The DNA is cleaved into 200 bp segments by caspase activated nucleases (CAD/DFF40/CPAN) [54-56] and topoisomerase II. The DNA is also cleaved at internucleosomal regions by topoisomerase II (independent of caspase) [57] as well as nucleases associated with topoisomerase II such as CAD/DFF40 [58, 59]. Finally, the compartmentalized vesicles (apoptotic bodies) are phagocytosed by macrophages and nonprofessional phagocytes. These characteristics separate apoptosis from necrosis, which does not share the same traits and is visibly distinct from apopotosis, as necrosis involves the swelling of the cell along with the loss of membrane integrity. This ultimately leads to cell lysis and surrounding tissue inflammation.

Even though the events are morphologically distinct, it has been suggested that apoptosis and necrosis are extreme forms of cell death. The signaling involved in apoptosis can be moderated to different strengths giving rise to cells that exhibit both morphologies [60]. As such, it may not be surprising that the machinery used for apoptosis is also used for other purposes as well, such as embryonic development [61], and more specifically, the development of germinal cell lines [62] like spermatozoa [63, 64]. As such, it has been observed that nuclease activity is not restricted strictly to the cellular compartment. Nucleases, like DNASiL3, have been described in extra-cellular seminal fluids [65, 66] outside of the sperm cell.

1.4. Role of Topoisomerase II in Apoptosis

The amount of chromosomal DNA that needs to be synthesized and organized during mitosis and meiosis requires topoisomerase II in order to prevent entanglements during the manipulation of DNA. Topoisomerase II operates in this context by creating a temporary covalent bond with DNA and then a temporary double-strand break, allowing for DNA manipulations without entanglements, which is then followed by re-ligation by the enzyme. The size of chromosomal DNA fragments created after a topoisomerase II excision have been repeatedly measured to be between 50 and 100 kb, and the site of the excisions are localized to the internucleosomal regions. The size of the DNA fragments and points of excision in cells induced to apoptosis [67, 68] also coincides with those of cells undergoing cellular division. Further investigations into the nature of topoisomerase II have led to the conclusion that the enzyme is active and functioning during apoptosis [69] as well as neuronal development [70, 71].

1.5. Apoptosis in Sperm

The protein machinery used during apoptosis has been identified in spermiogenic development in the testis. During spermiogenesis topoisomerase IIbeta activity has been shown in spermatids undergoing differentiation [72, 73] as well as in fully formed sperm cells taken from the epididymis or vas deferens [14]. As in the early stages of somatic apoptosis, spermatozoan topoisomerase II-beta attaches to the nuclear matrix at exposed DNA junctions and reversibly cleaves DNA in 50 kb loops. This is followed by the attachment of an as yet unidentified nuclease that proceeds to fully digest DNA. Specifically, caspase activated proteases, ribonucleases, and nucleases are used to digest unnecessary parts of the developing round spermatid leaving an oblong, fully formed sperm cell.

Some sperm, when leaving the testis, have been shown to contain DNA breaks [73-75] however there is little evidence to explain this phenomenon. Theories have been proposed stating that in some species spermiogenesis has evolved to increase sperm production rate at the expense of quality, increasing genetic mutations and which may explain un-religated DNA breaks. Faster spermiogenesis would impart higher rates of success in propagating paternal DNA in sexual selectivity patterns where female to male bonding is not exclusive [76]. Another theory suggests that DNA breaks seen in mature sperm chromatin may be the result of incomplete religation of spermatid chromatin during elongation in spermiogenesis [73]. DNA breaks can be artificially induced in mature spermatozoa by activating endogenous nucleases [77-80]. In species where DNA breaks are found, they have been correlated to infertility in males [81].

1.6. Nuclease Activity

Nuclease activity, which occurs during the end stages of apoptosis, can be activated under various conditions. Typical means include caspase (CAD/DFF40/CPAN) [54-56] as well as ion activation [65]. Ion induced nuclease activity has been observed in model systems ranging from plant and bacteria to human cells.

Plant systems have been shown to exhibit calcium and magnesium dependent nucleases in apoptotic cells. Extracts from plant cells undergoing apoptosis where able to trigger DNA fragmentation and apoptotic morphology in human cells [82].

Calcium dependent nucleases, commonly present in the nucleus, cytosol, or extra-cellular plasma, have been located on the outer cell membrane of bacteria Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae. As mycoplasmas are not capable of endogenously synthesizing nucleic acid precursors, it is suggestive that exhibiting a cell surface nuclease to digest large chains of DNA serves to provide smaller nucleic acid fragments for cellular consumption [83]. As such, lipid membrane cell surfaces or vesicle surfaces may also provide a method of transport for nucleases in mammalian cells, specifically spermatozoa.

As the initiation of apoptosis relies in part on the fluctuating concentrations of ions, ion channels of the mitochondria help control apoptosis by regulating the ion concentration in the cytosol. This, in turn, regulates the activity of proteases and nucleases. These ion channels also regulate the release of apoptogenic factors from the intermembrane space to the cytosol [84].

In somatic thymocytes calcium dependent nucleases can be inhibited with divalent cation chelators, such as EGTA and EDTA [85].

11

Rat nuclease DNase gamma, and it's human homologue DNASiL₃ [86], are calcium/magnesium dependent nucleases which have been extensively documented in somatic cells, localized in the nucleus, and associated with reproductive cells. Both enzymes cleave DNA in nucleosome segments. Additionally, the sequence of DNase gamma is 45% similar to DNase I and Dnase X [86], therefore it has been suggested that DNase gamma and DNASiL₃ are part of the DNase I family as the amino acid residues associated with DNA catalytic hydrolysis are conserved. An important difference between DNase gamma and DNase I lies in the location of activity; DNase gamma is found in the nuclear fraction while DNase I is secreted outside the cell. The precursor region of DNase gamma suppresses activity while two sequences localize the protein to the nucleus. On the other hand, the precursor region of DNase I is hydrophobic which is suggestive for extracellular secretion [87, 88]. DNASiL₃, a type of DNase I, has also been associated with sperm development [14, 80, 89, 90].

1.7. Sperm Chromatin Degradation by Topoisomerase II And An As Yet Unidentified Nuclease

The role of topoisomerase II has been well documented in somatic cell division and apoptosis. Its activity has been observed in the sperm cell as well. In spermatozoa topoisomerase II cleaves DNA in similar fashion as in the somatic cell followed by a full degradation of DNA from other nucleases when incubated with manganese and calcium [14]. The cleavage site taken by topoisomerase II resides on nuclease-sensitive sites of DNA attachment to the nuclear matrix [79, 91]. The spatial location of the other nucleases resides on (or is closely associated to) topoisomerase IIB [92, 93].

A current method for studying sperm/oocyte interactions during fertilization involves placing sperm nuclei, as is or altered according to experimental design, directly into the oocyte, in a process known as ICSI (intracytoplasmic sperm injection) [94]. What follows next (normally decondensation of chromatin DNA followed by replacement of protamines with histones [95], formation of paternal and maternal pronuclei, and finally zygotic cell division [96, 97]) determines whether or not the alterations to the sperm nuclei were critical for fertilization. The very minimum requirements for pronuclear formation under experimental conditions require the nuclear matrix with accessible DNA still attached [98]. Interestingly, if topoisomerase IIB is activated to digest DNA in the sperm nuclei prior to ICSI, paternal pronuclei develop but no DNA synthesis occurs. Alternatively, if topoisomerase IIB is activated, digests and re-ligates the DNA, paternal pronuclei develop and a round of DNA synthesis occurs. As in somatic cells, other nucleases seem to become activated by topoisomerase IIB after excision if the DNA is not re-ligated within a set period of time, resulting in full DNA digestion. When topoisomerase IIB is activated in sperm taken from the epididymis, more time is needed before full digestion occurs in contrast with sperm taken from the vas deferens, where less

13

time is needed prior to full DNA digestion [99]. As sperm taken from the vas deferens initiates full DNA degradation earlier than from the epididymis suggests that more nucleases are present and perhaps are imported into the cell as it waits in the vas deferens prior to its journey to fertilize the zygote.

Chapter 2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Animals

Male B6D2F1 (C57BL/6J X DBA/2) mice were obtained from National Cancer Institute (Raleigh, NC). Mice were fed ad libitum and kept in standard housing in accordance with the guidelines of the Laboratory Animal Services at the University of Hawaii and those prepared by the Committee on Care and Use of Laboratory Animals of the Institute of Laboratory Resources National Research Council (DHEF publication no. [NIH] 80-23, revised 1985). The protocol for animal handling and the treatment procedures were reviewed and approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at the University of Hawaii.

2.2. Extraction of Sperm from Epididymis and Vas Deferens

Mice were sacrificed using carbon dioxide asphyxiation followed by cervical dislocation. The epididymis and/or vas deferens were excised and fluid from the epididymis and/or vas deferens gently extracted, using tweezers, and diluted to a concentration of approximately 10⁸ spermatozoa/ml in 25 mM Tris, pH 7.4, 150 mM KCl buffer (TKB) and kept on ice.

2.3. Fractionation of Sperm Fluids and preparation of extracts.

Centrifuging extracted fluid from the epididymis and/or vas deferens at 2,000 x g for 2 minutes at room temperature gives rise to a pellet consisting of sperm cells, which is reconstituted in TKB. The resulting supernatant, Sup A, is comprised of two sub-fractions, Sup B and Pel B, which can be fractionated at 36,000 x g for 10 minutes at 4⁹ C giving rise to it's supernatant, Sup B, and pellet, Pel B. The Pel B, thought to contain vesicles, can be reconstituted in TKB and 0.5% Triton X-100 (lipid membrane solubilization), and fractionated again at 36,000 x g for 10 minutes at 4⁹ C, giving rise to the supernatant Pel B-Sup and pellet Pel B-Pel, which is then reconstituted in TKB.

Various fractions were incubated in 30 mM EGTA and/or 10 mM Manganese, 10 mM Calcium, or 10 mM Magnesium for 15 minutes at room temperature.

2.4. Isolation of Plasmid DNA

CompactPrep Plasmid Midi Kit (Qiagen, Catalog Number 12743) was used to grow eGFP bacteria. *Midi Kit Plasmid* procedure was followed resulting in the harvest of purified plasmid DNA (0.51 µg/µl).

16

2.5. CaPO₄ Precipitation of Sperm Extract

Epididymal and vas deferens fluid was extracted, combined, and diluted in buffer. The solution was divided to two aliquots; one of which was incubated with 10 mM Mn^{2+} and Ca^{2+} at 37^{2} C for one hour, the other aliquot was not incubated (control). Both solutions were then centrifuged at 2,000 x g for 2 minutes at RT. The resulting supernatants were discarded and pellets were resuspended in buffer. Both pellet resuspensions were separately centrifuged with resulting pellets resuspended in buffer two more times with the last resuspension containing 0.25% TX-100. Both solutions were centrifuged a fourth time with resulting supernatants aspirated (S4 and Mn^{2+} and Ca^{2+} incubation derived S4) and pellets discarded.

Aliquots were taken from both S4 solutions and treated with 44 mM CaCl₂ and 1 mM PO₄ (PBS), all four solutions were then centrifuged at 36,000 x g for 10 minutes at 4^o C. Resulting supernatants (S5) were aspirated to new tubes, pellets were resuspended in buffer (P5). The supernatants and resuspended pellets resulting from S4 treated with CaPO₄ were then treated with 15 mM EDTA and 15 mM EGTA.

Nuclease assay scheme: $_3 \mu l$ of S4 without or with Mn²⁺ and Ca²⁺ preincubation (A and B, lanes 1 and 6) were added to separate nuclease assay buffers. A volume of 5 μl of S5 and P5 that were not pre-incubated with Mn²⁺ and Ca²⁺ but treated with CaPO₄ (A and B, lanes 2 and 3) or without CaPO₄ (A and B, lanes 4 and 5) were added to separate nuclease assay buffers. A volume of 5 μl of S5 and P5 that were pre-incubated with Mn²⁺ and Ca²⁺ and treated with CaPO₄ (A and B, 17 lanes 7 and 8) or without CaPO₄ (A and B, lanes 9 and 10) were added to separate nuclease assay buffers. All nuclease assay buffers contained 10 mM Mn²⁺ and 10 mM Ca²⁺. All samples were analyzed by conventional agarose electrophoresis or denatured in Laemmli's buffer and analyzed by SDS-PAGE.

2.6. Nuclease Assay

Luminal fluid from the epididymis and vas deferens of 9-week-old mice was extracted and collected in 25 mM Tris and 150 mM KCl buffer (TKB) on ice. This was centrifuged with a small tabletop centrifuge (Sigma-Aldrich Micro Centrifuge 100 VAC) for 2 min at 2,000 x g to separate the luminal plasma (supernatant) from the sperm cells (pellet). The supernatant was aspirated and ultra-centrifuged at 36,000 x g (20,000 rpm, in an Allegra 64R tabletop ultracentrifuge from Beckman/Colter using an F2402 rotor) for 30 min at 4ºC. The supernatant (Luminal Plasma Supernatant) and the pellet (Luminal Plasma Pellet) were resuspended in TKB and both used in this assay. The sperm cell pellet was then washed three times with TKB at room temperature and resuspended in TKB. Triton X-100 (TX), a non-ionic detergent, was added to the sperm-TKB solution to a final concentration of 0.25%. This was centrifuged at 700 x g, and the supernatant (Sperm Cell Extract) used for this assay. Each solution - the Luminal Plasma Supernatant, Luminal Plasma Pellet, Luminal Plasma and the Sperm Extract - was pretreated with either: 30 mM EGTA, or 30 mM EDTA for 15 min at

room temperature, or 10 mM MnCa for 1 hour at $37^{\text{e}\text{C}}$. Then, 3 µl of each solution (with or without pretreatment) was added to 20 µl of TKB, containing 1.25 µg of plasmid DNA, and either no cations, 10 mM MnCl₂, 10 mM CaCl₂, or 10 mM of each cation for 1 h at $37^{\text{e}\text{C}}$. The solutions were then run on a 1% agarose gel containing ethidium bromide.

2.7. SDS-PAGE Silver Staining

Analyte samples were denatured by boiling in Lemmli's solution for 10 minutes then electrophoresing on sodium dodecyl sulfate poly-acrylamide gels (SDS-PAGE). Poly-acrylamide gel recipe was prepared according to the BIORAD instruction manual for Mini-PROTEAN II. Protein bands were visualized by silver staining. Silver Stain Plus kit from BioRad (Catalog Number 161-0449) used for protein staining.

2.8. Specific Activity

2.8.1. Total Protein Determination

The protein concentration was determined using by BCA (bicinchoninic acid reagent) Protein Assay Kit (Pierce, Catalogue Number 23227) using a bovine serum albumin standards supplied with the kit.

2.8.2. Determination of Nuclease Units

Specific activity, unit of activity per protein mass, for each fraction was analyzed to discern which fractions were most enriched with nuclease. The plasmid DNA digestion assay was employed to monitor the minimal amount of each fraction required to digest 1 μ g of DNA in 1 hour. An activity unit is designated as the full digestion of DNA in 1 hour per volume of fraction. For some specific activity calculations we arbitrarily assigned approximate values (e.g. using 0.9 instead of 1 activity units) to better approximate when a residual amount of DNA was left un-digested. This value was then divided by the total protein concentration of a nuclease-containing fraction, which equals the specific activity: Specific Activity = (activity unit / ml) / (mg total protein / ml)

Chapter 3. Results

The focus of this work is the characterization of the nuclease associated with sperm DNA degradation (SDD). As described in the Introduction, this degradation of the sperm chromatin requires the combined efforts of TOP₂B and an as yet unidentified nuclease. Previous experiments [14] have shown that combined epididymal and vas deferens luminal fluid could digest plasmids in the presence of manganese plus calcium, or manganese alone, but not calcium alone, or magnesium plus calcium. Because these ion properties fit those of SDD, we hypothesized that this nuclease activity was the same as that found in SDD.

3.1. Mn/Ca Dependent Nuclease (MCN) is Present In All Components of the Luminal Fluid

Nuclease activity had been shown previously [14] to be present in the contents of epididymal and vas deferens luminal fluid. We first tested whether we could further fractionate the nuclease to the different components of this fluid. Four aspects (Fig. 3.1) of the fluid were considered: (1) the sperm cells, (2) the luminal fluid, (3) the high-speed pellet fraction of the luminal fluid, and (4) the high-speed supernatant fraction of the luminal fluid.

Figure 3.1. Luminal Fluid Separation Scheme.



Fluid extracted from the epididymis and vas deferens was combined and diluted in buffer. The suspension was centrifuged at 2,000 x g for 2 minutes at room temperature (RT). The luminal fluid remained in the supernatant, Sup A, while spermatozoa separated to the pellet, Pel A. The Sup A was then centrifuged at 36,000 x g for 10 minutes at 4°C. The resulting luminal fluid supernatant, Sup B, was aspirated while the luminal fluid pellet, Pel B, was resuspended in the same volume of buffer.

3.1.1. MCN is Present in Two Fractions of the Luminal Fluid.

Centrifugation of combined epididymal and vas deferens fluid at 2,000 x g separates the sperm cells to the pellet (Pel A), leaving non-sperm containing luminal fluid in the supernatant (Sup A). In either of the two fractions we were able to test for the presence of nuclease activity by first incubating a fraction with Mn³⁺ and Ca³⁺ and then aliquoting a small amount to a new tube that contained buffer, an experimental cation combination, and plasmid DNA. The Mn³⁺ and Ca²⁺ incubation is thought to pre-activate the nuclease, while the transfer of pre-activated nuclease solution to the reaction buffer containing a cation fully activates the nuclease. The plasmid DNA was digested if the nuclease was present in the original fraction and fully activated with a proper cation in the reaction buffer. The reaction buffer was then run on an agarose gel containing ethidium bromide and DNA degradation is imaged with UV fluorescence.

We found Mn²⁺ and Ca²⁺ dependent nuclease (Mn²⁺ and Ca²⁺ Activated Nuclease, or MCN) activity present in the luminal fluid (Sup A) (Fig. 3.2, lanes 2 & 3) but initially not in sperm cells (Pel A) (Fig. 3.2, lanes 4 & 5). Plasmid DNA digestion was confirmed with fluorescence by electrophoreses on an ethidium bromide agarose gel. Even though the sperm cell tested negative for MCN activity, it can be influenced to exhibit nuclease activity and the method for doing so will be elucidated later in section 1.

Sup A at this point was further separated with higher speed centrifugation of $36,000 \times g$ into a pellet (Pel B) and supernatant (Sup B). We found DNA

Figure 3.2. Nuclease Activity Localized to TX-100 Treated Luminal Fluid.



Fluid from the epididymis and vas deferens was combined and diluted in buffer followed by centrifugation at 2,000 x g for 2 minutes at RT. The resulting supernatant, Sup A, was aspirated and the pellet was resuspended in buffer. Both solutions were treated with (lanes 3 and 5) or without (lanes 2 and 4) 0.25% TX-100. One-sixth volume of each fluid was then added to the nuclease assay buffer containing 10 mM Mn²⁺ and 10 mM Ca²⁺. All samples were analyzed by conventional agarose electrophoresis. Lane 1, plasmid, alone.

nuclease activity to require both manganese and calcium in both high-speed centrifugation fractions under specific conditions (Fig. 3.3). Both Sup B and Pel B from the luminal fluid had nuclease activity that could be activated with Mn⁺² and Ca⁺² and 0.25% TX-100. The addition of TX-100 to the individual fractions after separation induces activity levels that are similar between them. It is important to note that addition of TX-100 after separation is necessary in the Pel-B for activity to occur (data not shown). Proteins visualized by running various volumes of Sup B and Pel B on polyacrylamide gels and stained with silver nitrate (Fig. 3.4). Sup B appeared to have a greater total protein concentration than Pel B, yet Pel B retains similar levels of activity (Fig. 3.3). This suggested that Pel B had a higher specific activity for the nuclease, which we confirmed later.

3.1.2. Evidence that MCN is Present in Lipid Vesicles in the Luminal Fluid.

In the experiment depicted in Fig. 3.3, Sup B and Pel B had already been separated prior to the addition of TX-100 used in the nuclease assay. We tested the possibility that the nuclease activity that was present in Pel B pelleted because it was associated with membrane vesicles and was released by treating with TX-100 after high-speed centrifugation. Treating Sup A with TX-100 before centrifuging at 36,000 x g releases nuclease activity from Pel B into Sup B (Figs. 3.5 and 3.6). This supported our hypothesis that the nuclease was associated with lipid vesicles, and that this was the reason for its presence in Pel B.
Figure 3.3. Nuclease Activity Localized to Luminal Fluid Supernatant and Pellet.



Fluid from the epididymis and vas deferens was combined and diluted in buffer followed by centrifugation at 2,000 x g for 2 minutes at RT. The resulting supernatant, Sup A, was aspirated and centrifuged at 36,000 x g for 10 minutes at 4°C. The resulting supernatant, Sup B, was aspirated and the pellet, Pel B, was resuspended in buffer. Both solutions were separately treated with 0.25% TX-100. Volumes of 1, 3, 10, or 15 μ l of Sup B (lanes 1 – 4) or Pel B (Lanes 5 – 8), respectively, were added to the nuclease assay buffer containing 10 mM Mn²⁺ and 10 mM Ca²⁺. All samples were analyzed by conventional agarose electrophoresis. Lane P, plasmid alone.

Figure 3.4. Protein Band Visualization in Luminal Fluid Supernatant and Pellet .



The same solutions of Sup B and Pel B from Fig. 3.3 were denatured in Laemmli's buffer and analyzed by SDS-PAGE. Gel was stained with silver nitrate until protein bands became visible. Lane M, molecular weight markers, as indicated on left. Lanes 1 - 4, Sup B; lanes 5 - 8, Pel B.

Figure 3.5. Luminal Fluid Membrane Solubilization Scheme.



Fluid extracted from epididymis and vas deferens was combined and diluted in buffer. The suspension was centrifuged at 2,000 x g for 2 minutes at RT. The luminal fluid remained in the supernatant, Sup A, while spermatozoa separated to the pellet, Pel A. The Sup A was treated with 0.25% TX-100 followed by centrifugation at 36,000 x g for 10 minutes at 4° C. The resulting luminal fluid supernatant, Sup B, was aspirated while the luminal fluid pellet, Pel B, was resuspended in buffer.

Figure 3.6. Removal of Nuclease Activity from the TX-100 Treated Luminal Fluid Pellet.



Sup B and Pel B were prepared as described in Fig. 3.5. Volumes of 1, 3, 10, and 15 μ l of Sup B (lanes 1 – 4) and Pel B (lanes 5 – 8) were added to the nuclease assay buffer containing 10 mM Mn²⁺ and 10 mM Ca²⁺. All samples were analyzed by conventional agarose electrophoresis.

These data suggested that in Sup A, there were two fractions of the nuclease; a soluble form that remained in Sup B and a fraction that was associated with a lipid vesicle, or other TX-100 dissociable organelle, that was pelletable at 36,000 x g and remained in Pel B.

3.1.3. MCN Can be Activated in Spermatozoa with Prior Mn⁺² and Ca⁺² Treatment.

In our early experiments when the sperm cell was separated from the luminal fluid and incubated with Mn²⁺ and Ca²⁺ there was no nuclease activity, as shown above (Fig. 3.2). This finding was reproducible and seemed to suggest that the majority of nuclease activity was located outside the sperm cell in the surrounding luminal fluid (Sup A). Yet we know that the sperm cell can be manipulated to digest its own chromatin through nuclease activity [14]. This discrepancy led us to consider the possibility that pretreatment of the sperm cell with Mn²⁺ and Ca²⁺ in the presence of the full luminal fluid either transferred the nuclease to the sperm cell or was required to activate the nuclease in the sperm cell.

To test this hypothesis we incubated the sperm cell (Pel A) along with the rest of the luminal fluid (Sup A) in buffer with Mn^{2+} and $Ca^{2+}at 37^{\circ}$ C for one hour before centrifugation. This would theoretically allow the transfer of MCN activity from Sup A to the sperm cell or its activation within the sperm cell. The Mn^{2+} and Ca^{2+} incubated solution was centrifuged at 2,000 x g and the pellet Pel A was resuspended in buffer and permeabilized with 0.25% TX-100 (Fig. 3.7).

30

Figure 3.7. Sperm Cell Extraction Scheme.



Washed sperm cell pellet was resuspended in buffer with 0.25% TX-100 and centrifuged at 2,000 x g for 2 minutes at RT. The resulting supernatant, the sperm cell extract, was aspirated for analysis.

The resuspension was centrifuged again at the same speed. The resulting supernatant consisted of sperm cell extract and exhibited nuclease activity when combined with plasmid DNA in the presence of Mn²⁺ and Ca²⁺ (Fig. 3.8). In this case, however, there was some MCN activity in the sperm cell even without pretreatment with Mn²⁺ and Ca²⁺ (Fig. 3.8, lanes 4 and 8). If the incubation proceeded for four hours, activity seemingly moved back into Sup A and disappeared in Pel A (Fig. 3.9). The data suggested that pretreatment with divalent cations could activate MCN in the sperm cell.

3.1.4. Ion Specificity of MCN.

As the nuclease activity requires Mn^{+2} and Ca^{+2} , next we tested other ions with which the nuclease could be expected to react. Also, we examined the concentration ranges of activity.

A specific nuclease which requires Mg^{+2} and Ca^{+2} , for activity has been described [2,3]. As such, we tested whether our nuclease was a similar so-called Ca/Mg-Dependent enzyme, and if Mg^{+2} could substitute for Mn^{+2} . We tested for nuclease activity in Sup B and Pel B using all combinations of the three ions: Mn^{+2} , Mg^{+2} , or Ca^{+2} alone, and Mn^{+2} with Ca^{+2} , or Mg^{+2} with Ca^{+2} (Fig. 3.10). We found that Mn^{+2} with Ca^{+2} had the highest activity (Fig. 3.10A, lane 6 & 3.10B, lane 5), and that Mn^{+2} alone had less, but still visible, activity (Fig. 3.10A, lane 2). However, Mg^{+2} alone or Mg^{+2} with Ca^{+2} elicited no nuclease activity in either Sup A or Pel B.

Figure 3.8. Nuclease Activity Localized to the TX-100 Treated Sperm Cell.



Combined epididymis and vas deferens luminal fluid extracts were incubated with (lanes 3 and 5) or without (lanes 2 and 4) 10 mM Ca²⁺ and 10 mM Mn²⁺ at 37^o C for 1 hour. The solution was then centrifuged at 2,000 x g for 2 minutes at RT. The resulting supernatant, Sup A, was aspirated and the pellet, Pel A, was resuspended in buffer. The pellet was cleaned by undergoing two cycles of centrifugation at 2,000 x g, discarding the resulting supernatant and resuspending the pellet in buffer. Both Sup A and Pel A were then treated with 0.25% TX-100 and 3 µl of each were added to the nuclease assay buffer containing 10 mM Mn²⁺ and 10 mM Ca²⁺. All samples were analyzed by conventional agarose electrophoresis.

Figure 3.9. Nuclease Activity Localized to the Sperm Cell with Incubation Time Restraints.



Combined epididymis and vas deferens luminal fluid extracts were separately incubated without or with 10 mM Ca²⁺ and 10 mM Mn²⁺ at 37° C for 1 or 4 hours, as indicated in the figure. The suspensions were then centrifuged at 2,000 x g for 2 minutes at RT. The resulting supernatants, Sup A, were aspirated and the pellets, Pel A, were resuspended in buffer. Undergoing two centrifugation cycles cleaned the pellets. Both Sup A and Pel A were then treated with 0.25% TX-100 and 3 µl of each were added to the nuclease assay buffer containing 10 mM Mn²⁺ and 10 mM Ca²⁺. All samples were analyzed by conventional agarose electrophoresis. Lanes 1 and 11, plasmid, alone. Lanes 2-4, Sup A control. Lanes 5-7, supernatant corresponding to pellet in Lanes 15 – 17. Lanes 8-10, supernatant corresponding to pellet in lanes 18-20. Lanes 12 – 14, pellet of second wash.

Figure 3.10. Nuclease Ion Specificity in TX-100 Treated Sup B and Pel B.



Fluid from the epididymis and vas deferens was combined and diluted in buffer followed by centrifugation at 2,000 x g for 2 minutes at RT. The resulting supernatant, Sup A, was aspirated and centrifuged at 36,000 x g for 10 minutes at 4°C. The resulting supernatant, Sup B, was aspirated and the pellet, Pel B, was resuspended in buffer. Both solutions were separately treated with 0.25% TX-100. A volume of 3 μ l of Sup B (A) or Pel B (B) were added to various nuclease assay buffers containing either 10 mM Mn²⁺ (lane 2), Ca²⁺ (lane 3), or Mg²⁺ (lane 4), alone, or a combination of 10 mM Mn²⁺ and Ca²⁺ (lane 5) or 10 mM Mg²⁺ and Ca²⁺ (lane 6). All samples were analyzed by conventional agarose electrophoresis. Lane 1, plasmid control incubated with 10 mM Mn²⁺ and Ca²⁺ without nuclease, as controls.

As a control, we tested varying concentrations of all three ions with Sup A, before it was fractionated into Sup B and Pel B. In this case, we found some evidence for nuclease activity in the presence of Mg⁺² and Ca⁺² (Fig. 3.11, lanes 6 and 7), but this was much lower than the activity of Mn²⁺ and Ca²⁺ (Fig. 3.11, lanes 8 and 9). In fact, there was a much higher nuclease activity with 1 mM Mn⁺² and Ca⁺² than with even 10 mM Mg⁺² and Ca⁺², indicating that the nuclease activity is much more highly activated by manganese. Thus, the nuclease is not a classical Ca/Mg-dependent nuclease.

3.2. Spermatozoa Contain a Nuclease that can be Activated by EGTA, (EGTA Activated Nuclease, or EAN)

As was shown in Figure 3.8, MCN activity was found inside the sperm cell when incubated with Mn^{2+} , Ca^{2+} , and Sup A. The sperm cell MCN was extracted into the supernatant at 2,000 x g. Because the fraction obtained from the resulting supernatant was rich in protein we wanted to further isolate an enriched fraction containing MCN activity. We hypothesized that adding Ca^{2+} and PO_4 to the sperm extract prior to centrifugation at 26,000 x g would cause the precipitation of CaPO₄ along with extra proteins from suspension. This precipitate could be centrifuged to the pellet leaving fewer proteins in the resulting supernatant. The supernatant, containing less total protein, could then be assayed for nuclease activity and would be enriched for nuclease if it retained activity.

Figure 3.11. Nuclease Ion Specificity in Frozen and Thawed

Sup A.



Epididymal and vas deferens fluid was extracted, combined, and diluted in buffer followed by centrifugation at 2,000 x g for 2 minutes at RT. The resulting supernatant, Sup A, was frozen overnight at -80°C and thawed. A volume of 3 μ l was added to separate nuclease assay buffers containing: 1, 3, or 10 mM Mg²⁺ (lanes 2 – 4), alone, or combinations of 1 mM Mg²⁺ and Ca²⁺ (lane 5), 3 mM Mg²⁺ and Ca²⁺ (lane 6), 10 mM Mg²⁺ and Ca²⁺ (lane 7), 1 mM Mn²⁺ and Ca²⁺ (lane 8), or 10 mM Mn²⁺ and Ca²⁺ (lane 9). Lanes 1 and10, plasmid only controls. All samples were analyzed by conventional agarose electrophoresis.

3.2.1. EDTA and EGTA Activate MCN.

For our test we acquired the sperm extract from epididymal and vas deferens luminal fluid in the same manner as described for Fig. 3.8 except a control group was not incubated with Mn²⁺ and Ca²⁺ for pre-activation (Fig. 3.12). CaCl₂ and PBS were added to the experimental samples and all were centrifuged at 26,000 x g for 10 minutes at 4º C. The supernatants were aspirated to new tubes while the pellets were resuspended in buffer. EDTA and EGTA were added to samples containing CaPO₄ with the intention of chelating the Ca²⁺ in the pellet. In doing so the precipitate would become solubilized releasing any proteins that may have come down during centrifugation. EDTA/EGTA was also added to samples not treated with CaPO₄ as a control. All samples were then tested with our MCN activity assay. However, an unexpected outcome resulted from the assay. Normally, without Mn²⁺ and Ca²⁺ pre-incubation of the sperm cell (Pel A), the resulting sperm extract would not exhibit nuclease activity. However lanes 1-4 of Figure 3.12 all exhibited activity even though they were control samples that are derived from non-Mn²⁺ and Ca²⁺ incubated sperm cells. They should not have had any activity according to our historical trends.

A follow up experiment was designed to further understand how sperm cell extracted nuclease could become activated in the absence of Mn²⁺ Ca²⁺ preincubation. For this the sperm cell was not pre-incubated with Mn²⁺ and Ca²⁺ prior to extraction. Sperm extract was then mixed with buffer alone, Ca²⁺ alone, 38

Figure 3.12. Ca PO₄ Precipitation of Sperm Extract.



(A) Sperm extract (S4, indicating the spermatozoa were washed four times by centrifugation) was prepared as described in Methods from combined epididymal and vas deferens fluid that was either not treated, or pretreated with 10 mM Mn²⁺ and Ca²⁺ at 37° C for one hour. Sperm extracts from control and pretreated samples were taken from both S4 solutions and treated with 44 mM CaCl₂ and 1 mM PO₄ (PBS) (lanes 2, 3, 7 and 8), or without CaPO₄ (lanes 4, 5, 9 and 10). All four solutions were then centrifuged at 36,000 x g for 10 minutes at 4° C. Resulting supernatants (S5) were aspirated to new tubes; pellets were resuspended in buffer (P5). The supernatants and resuspended pellets resulting from S4 treated with CaPO₄ were then treated with 15 mM EDTA and 15 mM EGTA. Three µl of each S4 control (lanes 1 and 6), and 5 µl of each S5 and P5 suspension were added to separate nuclease assay buffers, incubated for 1 hr at 37° C, then plasmid digestion was assayed by gel electrophoresis. All nuclease assay buffers contained 10 mM Mn²⁺ and 10 mM Ca²⁺.

(B) Equivalent volumes of each sample in (A) were assayed by SDS-PAGE.

PBS alone, or Ca²⁺ and PBS. The extract and a quantity of the two mixtures were separately mixed with EDTA and EGTA for a total of six samples that were assayed with Mn²⁺ and Ca²⁺ and plasmid DNA. It was clear that all EDTA/EGTA containing samples, even those that were pre-incubated with only EDTA/EGTA had strong activity (Fig. 3.13, lanes 3, 5, and 6). This suggested that the increased activity we saw in Fig. 3.12 was not due to the CaPO₄ precipitation concentrating MCN, as we had hoped. Rather, it seemed that EDTA and EGTA alone activated the nuclease.

3.2.2. EGTA Activated MCN Can Digest DNA in the Presence of Ca^{2+} .

We next tested whether both EGTA and EDTA were necessary to activate MCN, and retested the cation requirements for EGTA/EDTA activated MCN, as a control. Sperm cell extract that was not pre-incubated with Mn^{2+} and Ca^{2+} was prepared with 20 mM EDTA, 20 mM EGTA, or both and incubated for 15 minutes at room temperature. An aliquot of the mixture was diluted to volume with buffer, 10 mM Mn^{2+} and Ca^{2+} , or with each ion, individually, and 1.25 µg DNA to assay for the nuclease. Our results showed that both EDTA and EGTA are capable of pre-activating the nuclease with nucleolytic activity following exposure to cations (Fig. 3.14). Surprisingly, we also found, for the first time, that Ca^{2+} alone was just as active in stimulating the nuclease to digest DNA as Mn^{2+} , or Mn^{2+} and Ca^{2+} . We must emphasize that the cation specificity for MCN activity never included Ca^{2+} alone. EAN activity, as shown in Fig. 3.14, clearly shows Ca^{2+} alone (Fig. 3.14, lanes 3 & 7) is sufficient to activate the nuclease.

Figure 3.13.

EGTA and EDTA Activates the Nuclease.



Sperm extract without any pretreatment was prepared as described in Methods. Aliquots of the sperm extract were separately added to buffers containing 44 mM Ca²⁺ and 1 mM PO₄ (lane 2), 44 mM Ca²⁺, 1 mM PO₄, 10 mM EDTA, and 10 mM EGTA (lane 3), 44 mM Ca²⁺ (lane 4), 44 mM Ca²⁺, 10 mM EDTA, and 10 mM EGTA (lane 5), 10 mM EDTA and 10 mM EGTA (lane 6). A volume of 3 μ l of each was then added to separate nuclease assay buffers containing 10 mM Mn²⁺ and 10 mM Ca²⁺. All samples were analyzed by conventional agarose electrophoresis.

Figure 3.14. EGTA Followed by Ca²⁺ Alone Activates the Nuclease.



Sperm extract was derived from the epididymis and vas deferen, as in Fig. 3.13. Separate aliquots of the sperm extract were treated with 20 mM EDTA, 20 mM EGTA, 60 mM EDTA, and 60 mM EGTA. Three μ l aliquots of 20 mM EDTA treated extract were added separately to nuclease assay buffers containing plasmid DNA with either: 10 mM Mn²⁺ and 10 mM Ca²⁺ (lane 1); 10 mM Mn²⁺ (lane 2); 10 mM Ca²⁺ (lane 3); or buffer containing no cations (lane 4). Lanes 5-8, as in lanes 1 – 4, except that EGTA was used in place of EDTA. Lanes 9 and 10, as in lanes 1 and 5, respectively, except that 60 mM EGTA or EDTA was used.

These results were so unique, that we changed our standard assay parameters to be pretreatment with EGTA then nuclease digestion with Ca²⁺, alone. Furthermore, from this point on, we term the nuclease pre-activated by EGTA/EDTA "EAN" (EGTA/EDTA Pre-Activated Nuclease).

An interesting artifact did occur in Fig. 3.14 that is reproducible when using higher concentrations of chelators EGTA or EDTA. When the sperm cell extract was pre-activated with 60mM EDTA or 60 mM EGTA followed by the addition of Mn²⁺ and Ca²⁺ and plasmid DNA, it resulted in DNA being retained in the electrophoresis well (Fig. 3.14, lanes 9 & 10).

3.2.3. EGTA can Activate EAN at Lower Concentrations than EDTA.

We next tested for the minimum concentration of EGTA and EDTA necessary for EAN activity (Fig. 3.15). We extracted sperm cell contents and preactivated them with increasing concentrations of either EGTA or EDTA. EGTA elicited a stronger nuclease response (Fig. 3.15, lane 2 versus lane 7) with activity occurring between 10 and 20 mM while 20 to 30mM EDTA was needed for equivalent activity.

3.2.4. Spermatozoa Digest their DNA with EGTA Pretreatment Followed by Ca²⁺ Treatment: Evidence that EAN is a Sperm Nuclease.

Other colleagues in the laboratory had already established by this point that (A) Mn²⁺ and Ca²⁺ nuclease pre-activation occurred inside the sperm cell resulting Figure 3.15. EGTA is a Stronger Activator of the EAN than EDTA.



Sperm extract was derived from the epididymis and vas deferens, as in 3.13. Separate aliquots of the sperm extract were treated with increasing concentrations (10, 20, 30, 40, and 50 mM) of EGTA (lanes 1 – 5) or EDTA (lanes 6 - 10). A volume of 3 μ l from each was separately added to nuclease assay buffers containing 10 mM Mn²⁺ and 10 mM Ca²⁺. All samples were analyzed by conventional agarose electrophoresis.

in the cell's own chromatin degradation and (B) that the activity was stronger in spermatozoa from the vas deferens than from the epididymis. We felt it was important to test for EAN activity inside the sperm cell that targeted the sperm's own chromatin before pursuing the isolation and characterization of EAN. Because EAN pre-activation had been demonstrated to work well in vitro using plasmid DNA as the substrate suggested that the same mechanism may exist inside the sperm cell using chromatin as the substrate. For these experiments the sperm cells from the epididymis or vas deferens were separately mixed with agarose and cast in plugs followed by incubation with 2 M NaCl₂ and 2 mM DTT to remove protamines. The agarose plugs where then incubated with or without EGTA, then in Mn²⁺ alone, Ca²⁺ alone, or Mn²⁺ and Ca²⁺ for 1 hour at 37^o C, then analyzed by field inversion gel electrophoresis (FIGE).

The results demonstrated several points. First, as mentioned above, spermatozoa from the vas deferens had much stronger activity than those from the epididymis (lanes 4 and 12, Figs. 3.16A versus 3.16B). Secondly, spermatozoa contain EAN activity as defined by us: they could digest their DNA when treated with EGTA then with Ca²⁺, alone (Figs. 3.16a and 3.16b, lanes 7 and 15). This was the first demonstration that sperm chromatin could be digested in the presence of Ca²⁺, alone. Third, they demonstrated that EAN activity was much greater than

Figure 3.16. EGTA Activated Nuclease (EAN) Activity Degrades

Sperm Chromatin.



EGTA stimulates sperm DNA degradation after salt treatment. Total fluid from (A) the epididymis (lanes 1 – 8) or (B) vas deferens (lanes 9 – 16) was embedded in agarose plugs and treated with 2 M NaCl₂, 2 mM DTT for 1 hr at 37° C, then treated with or without 30 mM EGTA, as indicated. All plugs were then treated with 10 mM MnCl₂, alone (lanes 2, 6, 10 and 14), or with 10 mM CaCl₂, alone (lanes 3, 7, 11, and 15), or with both (lanes 4, 8, 12 and 16) as indicated. The reactions were stopped with SDS, and the DNA analyzed by field inversion gel electrophoresis (FIGE).

MCN activity in salt extracted spermatozoa (compare lanes 4 and 7, and 12 and 15, Fig. 3.16). This suggested to us that it was possible that EAN and MCN was the same enzyme, but that it was activated much more strongly by EGTA and Ca²⁺. These results were published [89].

3.2.5. EAN Activity is Stronger in the Vas Deferens Luminal Fluid than in the Epdidiymis.

Because EAN activity in sperm chromatin was shown to be stronger when the sperm were derived from the vas deferens rather than from the epididymis, we tested to see if EAN activity on plasmid DNA was also stronger when the sperm extract was extracted from sperm cells derived from the vas deferens rather than from the epididymis (Fig. 3.17). As with the sperm chromatin digestion study (Fig. 3.16), vas deferens derived sperm had stronger EAN activity than the epididymis (Fig. 3.17, lanes 22-24 versus lanes 10-12). Again, Ca²⁺ alone was sufficient for nuclease activity (Fig. 3.17, lane 11 & lane 23). These results were also published [89].

3.3. EAN is Present in all Luminal Fluid Fractionsbut Appears to be Most Highly Concentrated in Lipid Vesicles

Since Mn²⁺ and Ca²⁺ activated nuclease is present in all fractions of the luminal fluid (Pel A, Sup A, Sup B, and Pel B) we were curious as to whether EAN was present in the same fractions. For our test parameters we analyzed Sup B and Pel B for EAN in place of Sup A because these two fractions compose Sup A. We

47

Figure 3.17. EAN Activity is Greater in Vas Deferens Sperm Extract than that from the Epididymis.



Sperm extract was derived separately from the epididymis or vas deferens using the same methods as in Fig. 3.13. Portions of both extracts were either left untreated or treated with 10 mM Mn^{2+} and 10 mM Ca^{2+} or 20 mM EGTA. A volume of 3 µL of untreated extract from both the epidydimis and vas deferens was assayed for nuclease activity with no cations present as a control (A and B, lane 1), with 10 mM Mn^{2+} alone (A and B, lane 2), 10 mM Ca^{2+} alone (A and B, lane 3), and 10 mM Mn^{2+} and 10 mM Ca^{2+} combined (A and B, lane 4). Lanes 5 – 8 (A and B) as in lanes 1 – 4, except that the sperm extract was pretreated with Mn^{2+} and Ca^{2+} . Lanes 9 – 12 (A and B), as in lanes 1 – 4, except that sperm extract was pretreated with Mn^{2+} and Ca^{2+} . Lanes 9 – 12 (A and B), as in lanes 1 – 4, except that sperm extract was pretreated with 30 mM EGTA. All samples were analyzed by conventional agarose electrophoresis.

did not analyze Pel A for EAN as it was already described above. Secondly, we also compared EAN activity in Sup B and Pel B from the vas deferens against the same fractions in the epididymis as these two organs contained different levels of MCN activity (Fig. 3.17). We will now describe EAN activity as specifying a distinct nuclease that requires EGTA for pre-activation, and is fully activated with Ca²⁺. EAN can be fully activated with other cations like Mn²⁺, and Mn²⁺ and Ca²⁺, however, we have found no other nuclease in sperm that can be activated with Ca²⁺ alone, thus we operationally define EAN as pre-activatable with EGTA then activatable with Ca²⁺.

3.3.1. EAN Activity is Present in Vas Deferens Lipid Vesicles.

For our test (Fig. 3.18) the luminal fluid from the epididymis and vas deferens were extracted separately and centrifuged at 2,000 x g for 2 minutes. The resultant Sup A from the epididymis and vas deferens were separately aspirated to new tubes and centrifuged at 26,000 x g for 10 minutes at 4° C. The supernatants (Sup B) were aspirated to new tubes and the pellets (Pel B) were resuspended in buffer. Aliquots of each sample were pre-activated with 30 mM EGTA for 10 minutes at RT. All samples were treated with 0.25% TX-100 and 3 µL of each were added to 17 µl of nuclease assay buffer containing 10 mM of various cations, and 1.25 µg of plasmid DNA. Epididymal Sup B and Pel B did not contain any MCN activity (Figs. 3.18A and B, lanes 1-4). There was EAN activity present in the Sup B (Fig. 3.18A, lanes 6-8), however none present in Pel B. Vas deferens Sup B and Pel B exhibited

Figure 3.18. EAN and MCN Activity are both in the Luminal Fluid Supernatant and Pellet of the Vas Deferens



Epididymis

Fluid was collected separately from the epididymis and vas deferens. Sup B and Pel B, from either the epididymis or vas deferens, were prepared as described in Figure 3.10. Three μ l of Sup B or Pel B from the epididymis were assayed for nuclease activity alone, with Mn²⁺, with Ca²⁺, or with Mn²⁺ and Ca²⁺ (A and B, lanes 1 – 4). Sup B and Pel B from the epididymis were also treated with 30 mM EGTA then 3 μ l of each were assayed for nuclease activity alone, with Mn²⁺, with Ca²⁺, or with Mn²⁺ and Ca²⁺ (A and B, lanes 5 – 8). The same conditions used to test for nuclease activity were also performed on Sup B and Pel B from the vas deferens (C and D). All samples were analyzed by conventional agarose electrophoresis.

similar MCN activity (Figs. 3.18C and D, lanes 1-4). EAN activity was present in both Sup B and Pel B (Figs. 3.18C and D, lanes 6-8). It was clearly noticeable that the epididymis contained less overall nuclease activity in the Sup A than the vas deferens. Another observation was noted; an increase in EAN activity as luminal fluid travels from the epididymis to the vas deferens may suggest that nuclease activity transfers into the Pel B fraction, as the Pel B consists of lipid vesicles.

3.3.2.. Fractionation of the Vas Deferens Lipid Vesicles to Enrich for EAN Activity.

Since our data suggested that the nuclease in the vas deferens Pel B is contained within lipid vesicles (Section 1) that seemingly act to naturally encapsulate the nuclease we next tested the hypothesis that the lipid membrane of the vesicles could be ruptured allowing the nuclease contained within to escape. Because the focus of this work was to isolate and characterize the sperm nuclease associated with SDD, and because our data so far suggested that EAN was this nuclease, we focused on the vas deferens lipid vesicles as the most likely fraction from which we could identify and characterize EAN. Additionally it was thought that the total protein concentration found in the contents of the vesicles in Pel B would be lower yet still maintain nuclease activity and would be, in effect, an enzyme enriched fraction.

To test this idea we ruptured the vas deferens lipid vesicles by freeze/thawing, according to the method diagrammed in Fig. 3.19. We first extracted the luminal contents of the vas deferens and centrifuged it at 2,000 x g



Figure 3.19. Luminal Fluid Pellet Fraction Separation Scheme

Fluid extracted from the vas deferens was diluted in buffer. The suspension was centrifuged at 2,000 x g for 2 minutes at room temperature (RT). The luminal fluid remained in the supernatant, Sup A, while spermatozoa separated to the pellet, Pel A. The Sup A was then centrifuged at 36,000 x g for 10 minutes at 4°C. The resulting luminal fluid supernatant, Sup B, was aspirated while the luminal fluid pellet, Pel B, was resuspended in the same volume of buffer and was kept frozen at -80° C overnight. Pel B was then thawed and centrifuged at 36,000 x g for 10 minutes at 4° C. The resulting supernatant, Pel B-Supernatant, was aspirated while the resulting pellet, Pel B-Pellet, was resuspended in the same volume of buffer.

for 2 minutes. The resulting supernatant, Sup A, was then centrifuged at 26,000 x g for 15 minutes at 4º C. The resulting pellet, Pel B, was resuspended in buffer and frozen at -80° C overnight. The next day Pel B was thawed and centrifuged at 26,000 x g for 15 minutes at 4º C. The resulting supernatant, Pel B-Sup, was aspirated to a new tube and the pellet, Pel B-Pel, was resuspended in buffer. Next we pre-activated aliquots of thawed Pel B, Pel B-Pel, and Pel B-Sup with 30 mM EGTA for 15 minutes at RT. Aliquots of 1, 2.5, and 5 µL of the pre-activated samples were brought up to assay volume with buffer, 10 mM Ca2+, and 1.25 µg of plasmid DNA. At this point the cation Ca²⁺ was used as it specifically activates EAN. Pel B (Fig. 3.20A, lanes 2-4) exhibited the strongest EAN activity with only 2.5 µL needed to digest nearly all the DNA. Pel B-Pel (Fig. 3.20A, lanes 5-7) exhibited the least activity of the three and Pel B-Sup (Fig. 3.20A, lanes 8-10) exhibiting higher activity than Pel B-Pel but not as high as Pel B. It is interesting to note that Pel B-Sup seems to be twice as strong in nuclease activity as Pel B-Pel as only 2.5 µL of Pel B-Sup was needed to digest the same amount of DNA as 5 µL of Pel B-Pel.

We next examined the protein profiles of Pel B, Pel B-Pel, and Pel B-Sup by denaturing aliquots of each in Laemmli's buffer, running them through SDS-PAGE, and staining the gel with silver nitrate (Fig. 3.20B). For each lane, equivalent volumes of the suspensions were electrophoresed, so that we could compare the relative amounts of protein. It is clear that Pel B (Fig. 3.20B, Lane1) has overall darker protein staining and more bands. Pel B-Pel and Pel B-Sup (Fig. 3.20B, lanes 3 & 4) differ in the amount of protein staining at the top of the lanes (heavier

Figure 3.20. Luminal Fluid Pellet Derived Fractions: Comparative EAN Activity and Protein Analysis



(A) The fractions Pel B, Pel B-Pellet, and Pel B-Supernatant were prepared from the vas deferens as described in 3.19 and treated with 30 mM EGTA for 10 minutes at RT. Aliquots of 1, 2.5, and 5 μ l of Pel B (A, lanes 2 – 4), Pel B-Pellet (A, lanes 5 – 7), and Pel B-Supernatant (A, lanes 8 – 10) were each were assayed for nuclease activity in 10 mM Ca. All samples were analyzed by conventional agarose electrophoresis.

(B) Aliquots of the same solutions of Pel B, Pel B-Pellet, and Pel B-Supernatant were denatured in Laemmli's buffer and analyzed by SDS-PAGE. Gel was stained with silver nitrate until protein bands became visible. Lane M, molecular weight markers, as indicated on left. Lanes 1 – 3: Pel B, Pel B-Pellet, and Pel B-Supernatnat, respectively.

(C) BCA protein assay performed on triplicate aliquots of Pel B, Pel B-Pellet, and Pel B-Supernatant resulting 258, 203, and 130 μ g protein / μ l, respectively.

(D) Results from figures 3.20a (minimal volume needed to digest 1 μ g DNA in 1 hour) and 3.20c (protein concentration) were used to calculate the respective specific activities of the Pel B fractions, Pel B, Pel B-Pellet, and Pel B-Supernatant as 1.40, 0.49, and 2.76, respectively, with equation:

Specific Activity = (activity unit / ml) / (mg total protein / ml).

proteins in Pel B-Pel) and have differences in the pattern of protein banding.

An analysis of the individual total protein concentrations of Pel B, Pel B-Pel, and Pel-B Sup was performed next. Using a BCA assay kit (serum albumin protein standards and bicinchoninic acid reagent) to determine individual protein concentrations (Fig. 3.20C); Pel B, Pel B-Pel, and Pel B-Sup contained 258, 203, and 130 µg protein / µL, respectively.

Lastly we analyzed the individual specific activities (Fig. 3.20D), units of activity per protein mass, of each fraction in order to discern which fractions were most enriched with nuclease. We used the plasmid DNA digestion assay (Fig. 3.20A) to monitor the minimal amount of each fraction required to digest 1 µg of DNA in 1 hour. Volumes of 1, 2.5, and 5 µL of each fraction were assayed. We defined an activity unit as the full digestion of DNA in 1 hour per volume of fraction. For some specific activity calculations we arbitrarily assigned approximate values (e.g. using 0.9 instead of 1 activity units to better approximate when a residual amount of DNA was left un-digested). This value was divided by the total protein concentration of a nuclease-containing fraction to give us each specific activity:

Specific Activity = (activity unit / ml) / (mg total protein / ml)

We were able to calculate the estimated specific activities of Pel B, Pel B-Pel, and Pel B-Sup as 1.40, 0.49, and 2.76, respectively.

55

3.4. EGTA Activates EAN only in the Presence of Ca²⁺: Evidence that EAN is Activated by Ca²⁺-Chelated EGTA

The experiments described above suggested that vesicles were present in the luminal fraction Pel B that contained the nuclease, and that these could be ruptured by freeze thawing to release some of the nuclease. Centrifugation of ruptured vesicles at high speed separated the contents held in the vesicle from the lipid membranes that constitute the vesicle itself. The pellet of freeze/thawed Pel B would contain ruptured vesicles that may contain attached EGTA activatable nuclease with or without its activating factors. Based on the presence of activity in both Sup B and Pel B (Fig. 3.18, C & D, lanes 6-8) we hypothesized that some of the nuclease was attached to lipid membranes of ruptured vesicles and remained associated with the vesicle membrane in Pel B, while some of the nuclease was released into Sup A. We therefore attempted to clean the Pel B with several cycles of centrifuging and resuspended the pellet. The pellet would retain EAN activity while subsequent supernatants would lack EAN activity. Additionally we tested to see if EGTA pre-activated nuclease would still be activatable with Ca²⁺ following removal of EGTA. Lastly, we tested if activity could be restored if EGTA was reintroduced.

3.4.1. EAN Appears to be Bound to Vesicle Membranes.

In order to test if nuclease remained attached to the putative vesicle membranes we began with Pel B (obtained from the vas deferens) frozen at -80°C 56

which was thawed and centrifuged at 26,000 x g for 10 minutes at 4º C; giving rise to the first pellet (Pel B-P) and supernatant (Pel B-S, Fig. 3.19). Pel B-P was resuspended in buffer and centrifuged again at 26,000 x g, giving rise to the second pellet (Pel B-P2) and supernatant (Pel B-PS). Pel B-P2 was resuspended and an aliquot of it and Pel B-PS was transferred separately to new tubes. The remaining Pel B-P2 was centrifuged at 26,000 x g, giving rise to the third pellet (Pel-B-P3) and respective supernatant (Pel B-P2S). All samples were then pre-activated with 30 mM EGTA for 15 minutes at RT. Lastly, a 3 µL aliquot of each sample was brought up to assay volume with buffer, 10 mM Ca2+, plasmid DNA and separately with buffer, 10 mM Ca2+, 0.25% TX-100, plasmid DNA and 0.25% TX-100. We used TX-100 on the second set of samples to ensure solubilization of any enduring vesicle membranes thereby releasing remaining nuclease. As shown in Fig. 3.21, these fractions mark a stage were each successive pellet (lanes 5 and 7) afterward continued to retain EAN activity while their respective supernatants (lanes 6 and 8) continued to maintain residual amount of EAN activity. By the third wash, there was very little EAN activity in the supernatant, while there was still activity in the pellets.

The results, demonstrated that from the first spin, Pel B (the starting source of EAN) and Pel B-S (the supernatant of Pel B) contained the highest amounts of EAN activity when assayed with or without TX-100 (Fig. 3.21, lane 2-4, and 14-16). This is consistent with our previous results that showed that most of the EAN is released from Pel B by freeze/thawing. High activity levels were expected as the

Figure 3.21. Localization of EAN Activity Within Luminal Fluid

Pellet Fractions



The fractions Pel B (lanes 1 and 14), Pel B-Pellet (Pel B-P, lanes 2 and 15), and Pel B-Supernatant (Pel B-S, lanes 3 and 16) were prepared from the vas deferens as described in 3.19. The Pel B-P was then centrifuged at 36,000 x g for 10 minutes at 4° C resulting in the supernatant Pel B-PS (lanes 6 and 18) and pellet Pel B-P2 (lanes 5 and 17). Pel B-P2 was then resuspended in buffer and centrifuged at 36,000 x g for 10 minutes at 4° C resulting in the supernatant Pel B-P2S (lanes 8 and 20) and pellet Pel B-P3 (lanes 7 and 19). Pel B-P3 was then resuspended in buffer. An aliquot of Pel B-P2 was then treated with 30 mM EGTA for 15 minutes at RT and then centrifuged at 36,000 x g for 10 minutes at 4° C resulting in the supernatant Pel B-P2eS (lanes 10 and 22) and pellet Pel B-P2eP (lanes 9 and 21). The pellet was then resuspended in buffer. Separate aliquots of Pel B-P2eS and Pel B-P2eP were then treated EGTA for 15 minutes at 4° C and renamed Pel B-P2eSe (lanes 12 and 24) and Pel B-P2ePe (lanes 11 and 23). An aliquot of each sample was then separately treated with 0.25% TX-100 after which 3 μ l of each was assayed for nuclease activity in 10 mM Ca. All samples were analyzed by conventional agarose electrophoresis. contents of Pel-B have been shown to be EAN rich and soluble, therefore would remain in the supernatant. The 1st resuspended pellet of Pel B, Pel B-P, exhibited reduced activity in the absence of TX-100 (Fig. 3.21, lane 2) and strong activity in the presence of TX-100 (Fig. 3.21, lane 15). The difference in activity suggests that solubilizing the lipid membrane using TX-100 releases embedded nuclease from vesicle membranes and may allow for more interaction between Ca²⁺ activated nuclease and its substrate, plasmid DNA.

Without TX-100 the EAN activity levels of the 2nd and 3rd resuspended pellets of Pel B, Pel B-P2 and Pel B-P3, were moderate and equal to each other yet slightly weaker than Pel B-P (compare lane 3 with lanes 5 and 7, Fig. 3.21).

The difference in activity between Pel B-P and subsequent pellets may be due to residual Pel B-Pel with TX-100 (Fig. 3.21, lanes 15, 17, and 19, respectively). This suggested that there was much more EAN activity retained in the washed pellets than was apparent when EAN was assayed without TX-100.

3.4.2. EAN in Supernatants May also be Membrane Bound.

The supernatants of centrifuging resuspended Pel B-P and Pel B-P₂, Pel B-PS and Pel B-P₂S, exhibited similar nuclease activity levels suggesting the amount of unattached nuclease released from Pel B-P and Pel B-P₂ was equal and minor (Fig. 3.21, lanes 6 and 8). However TX-100 treated Pel B-PS exhibited stronger activity than TX-100 treated Pel B-P₂S suggesting the amount of unattached nuclease decreases with each successive centrifugation cycle. The difference

between the two TX-100 treated and untreated supernatants may suggest that centrifugation at 26,000 x g is not enough to pellet small nuclease embedded membrane fragments, or that small, lipid bound fragments are released from the vesicles that contain EAN bound to them. The resulting supernatant, when treated with TX-100, would have a higher concentration of available nuclease interacting with DNA.

3.4.3. EGTA Activation is Not Permanent.

We next began to test the mechanism of EGTA activation. At this point, two broad scenarios were possible. One was that EGTA could activate a complicated signaling pathway that was essentially irreversible once it was initiated. This might have included caspase or caspase like proteolytic cleavage, for example. The second possibility was that EGTA performed a much simpler function, such as removing Ca²⁺ from a calmodulin or calmodulin-like protein that inhibited EAN, and that the additional Ca²⁺ required for EAN activity bound directly to the nuclease. In this case, EGTA activation might be reversed with the addition of Ca²⁺ before DNA was present. We tested for the reversibility of EGTA activation by treating Pel B-P2 with EGTA and centrifuging a third time. The aliquot of Pel B-P2 was pre-activated with 30 mM EGTA at RT for 15 minutes followed by centrifugation at 26,000 x g for 15 minutes at 4^o C giving rise to its pellet (Pel B-P2eP) and supernatant (Pel B-P2eS). It should be noted that the centrifugation of EGTA activated Pel B-P2 would leave its pellet, Pel B-P2eP, with no EGTA as it would have remained in the supernatant during centrifugation. Pel B-P2eP was next resuspended in buffer and aliquots of it and Pel B-P2eS were set aside and not treated at all or pre-activated again with EGTA.

The supernatant of this reaction, Pel B-P2eS, was aspirated and the pellet, Pel B-P2eP, was resuspended in buffer. Pel B-P2eP did not digest any DNA in the presence of Ca²⁺, only, without additional EGTA, whether or not TX-100 was included (Fig. 3.21, lanes 9 and 21). As noted above, EGTA was part of the supernatant and was removed during aspiration after centrifugation. This suggested that whatever effect EGTA had on EAN, it was either not permanent, or EGTA has no effect until the other components of the nuclease assay are added. When EGTA was added again to this resuspended pellet, there was substantial EAN activity (Fig. 3.21, lane 23). This indicated that EAN was present in the Pel B-P2eP, but that the EGTA pre-activated nuclease in Pel B-P2 still required the presence of EGTA in Pel B-P2eP with the addition of Ca²⁺ to fully activate the nuclease.

When the supernatant of EGTA pre-activated Pel B-P2, Pel B-P2eS, was treated with TX-100 and activated in the presence of Ca²⁺ the nuclease digested a moderate amount of plasmid DNA. This suggested that unattached nuclease in the presence of both EGTA and Ca²⁺ was activated and accessible to plasmid DNA.
3.4.4. EGTA Activation of Soluble EAN is Also Not Permanent.

The reversible nature of membrane bound EAN activation contained in the pellet of freeze/thawed PelB, as described in lanes 9 and 21 of Fig. 3.21 was another unique characteristic of EAN since as far as we know no other nuclease has been described with this activity. We therefore tested if similar activity patterns could be found in released vesicular contents found in the supernatant of freeze/thawed Pel B. If so, this would further support our hypothesis that the EAN activity in the Pel B pellet and supernatant were the same enzyme. As Pel B contained pelletable nuclease bound to vesicle membranes, which acted as scaffolding for the nuclease, the membranes easily allowed us to change the resuspension solution and likewise the environment of the enzyme. However, the supernatant of freeze/thawed Pel B did not naturally provide such a scaffold for the nuclease, so we devised another technique through which we could remove the EGTA. We embedded the supernatant, along with plasmid DNA, in agarose gel plugs. The agarose plug, containing the nuclease and DNA, could then be sequentially incubated in solutions containing EGTA or Ca²⁺. As the two molecules easily diffuse through an agarose plug we were able to change the incubation conditions of the enzyme.

For our test we began with Pel B (obtained from the vas deferens) frozen at -80° C which was thawed and centrifuged at 26,000 x g for 10 minutes at 4° C; giving rise to the first pellet (Pel B-P) and supernatant (Pel B-S). Pel B-S was aspirated and mixed with buffer, DNA and agarose. The solution was then cast into 5 plugs. Because not all plugs were being incubated concurrently, the inactive

ones were storedat4^o C until use. Each plug was incubated sequentially in EGTA or buffer for 15 minutes intervals at room temperature (RT). For the last incubation, all plugs except for the negative control were incubated at 37^o C for 1 hour. The negative control was left at RT for 1 hour. The order for each incubation is shown in Table 1. The expected outcomes were based on the results of the Pel B-P experiment, shown in Fig. 3.21.

Table 1. Protocol for Pel B-S Incubations in Agarose Plugs.												
		15" RT	15" RT	15" RT	15" RT	60" 37º С	Expected Activity					
1	Plug	Ice	Ice	Ice	Ice	RT	No					
2	Plug	Ice	Ice	Ice	Ice	EGTA	No					
3	Plug	Ice	Ice	Ice	EGTA	Ca	Yes					
4	Plug	Ice	EGTA	TKB	ТКВ	Ca	No					
5	Plug	EGTA	TKB	TKB	EGTA	Ca	Yes					

For our negative control (plug 1, Table 1) no activity was initiated by leaving DNA and nuclease together for 1 hour at RT without EGTA or Ca^{2+} (Fig. 3.22, lane 1). As expected, EGTA in the absence of Ca^{2+} did not activate the nuclease when incubated at 37° C for 1 hour (Fig. 3.22, lane 2). For a positive control, we activated EAN activity by incubating the plug in 30 mM EGTA followed by incubation in 10 mM Ca^{2+} (Fig. 3.22, lane 3).

Figure 3.22. Luminal Fluid Pellet Derived Supernatant: EAN Activation Conditions

Step 1: 15" RT	ice	ice	ice	ice	EGTA
Step 2: 15" RT	ice	ice	ice	EGTA	TKB
Step 3: 15" RT	ice	ice	ice	ткв	ТКВ
Step 4: 15" RT	ice	ice	EGTA	TKB	EGTA
Step 5: 60" 37°C	RT	EGTA	Ca ²⁺	Ca ²⁺	Ca ²⁺



The fraction Pel B-S was prepared from the vas deferens as described in Figure 3.19, mixed with plasmid DNA, cast into agarose plugs, and then kept near 0° C. Individual plugs were then incubated for 15 minutes at RT in various solutions in specific order: EGTA, buffer, buffer, EGTA, and Ca (lane 5); EGTA, buffer, buffer, Ca²⁺ (lane 4); EGTA and Ca²⁺ (lane 3); EGTA only (lane 2). The last incubation step for each plug was designed as a nuclease assay and was kept for one hour at 37° C except for the control (lane 1) which was at RT for one hour. All EGTA and Ca²⁺ solutions were 30 mM and 10 mM, respectively. All samples were then analyzed by conventional agarose electrophoresis.

Our next finding, interestingly, shows that incubating the plug in 30 mM EGTA followed by two buffer incubations and finally in 10 mM Ca²⁺ does not initiate activity (Fig. 3.22, lane 4). By incubating the plug in two successive buffer solutions the concentration of EGTA in the plug was extracted, suggesting that EGTA along with Ca²⁺ must be present at the same time in order for activity to occur. This result is in agreement with Fig. 3.21, lanes 9 and 21. Both experiments provide examples of EGTA added to and then removed from the nuclease followed by a lack of activity in the presence of Ca²⁺. When the nuclease is incubated in 30 mM EGTA, twice in buffer, than 30 mM EGTA again before 10 mM Ca²⁺, EAN activity is restored (Fig. 3.22, lane 5). This result also agrees with lanes 11 and 23 of Fig. 3.21, as in each situation the nuclease has EGTA added, removed, and added again along with Ca²⁺ resulting in activity.

3.4.5. EGTA Chelated to Ca²⁺Activates EAN.

The results shown in Figures 3.21 and 3.22 suggested a novel possibility for the mechanism of EGTA activation of EAN. In the first set of experiments in which EGTA was removed from membrane bound EAN in Pel B-P, the only way to activate EAN was to add 30 mM EGTA back to the suspension. Then, 3 µl of this suspension was added to a final volume of 20 µl of reaction buffer containing 10 mM CaCl₂. In this assay, the EGTA was effectively diluted to 7.5 mM, and the DNA was being digested in the presence of both EGTA and Ca²⁺. In the second experiment, in which agarose plugged EAN was serially incubated first in EGTA and then in Ca²⁺, there is a point in the final incubation when EGTA is being extracted at the same time that Ca²⁺ is diffusing into the plug. Thus, it was possible that EAN required the presence of both EGTA and Ca²⁺, simultaneously.

To test this, EAN activity was examined in a series of different concentrations of EGTA and Ca²⁺ incubated together, rather than sequentially. We first tested the lowest EGTA concentration needed to initiate EAN activity in conjunction with greater and constant Ca²⁺ concentrations. The goal of this experiment was to saturate EGTA with Ca2+ to determine if EAN was still able to digest DNA in the absence of any free EGTA. If all available molecules of EGTA were bound with Ca2+ at lower EGTA concentrations, resulting activity would further suggest that free EGTA is not pre-activating the nuclease, but rather that EGTA chelated to Ca²⁺activated EAN. To test the lower activation threshold of EAN, Pel B (obtained from the vas deferens) was frozen at -80°C, thawed, and centrifuged at 26,000 x g for 10 minutes at 4°C; giving rise to the supernatant Pel B-S. Next, 3 µl aliquots were incubated simultaneously with 1.25 µg DNA, 10 mMCa²⁺ and increasing concentrations of EGTA (0.5, 1.0, 1.5, 2.0, and 2.5 mM) (Fig. 3.23a, lanes 3-7). The lowest concentration of EGTA needed, simultaneously with 10 mM Ca²⁺, to activate EAN activity was between 1.0mM and 1.5mM (Fig. 3.23a, lanes 4 and 6). Since the concentration of Ca⁺² was almost tenfold higher than that of EGTA, most of the EGTA was saturated with Ca⁺². However, as in all previous

Figure 3.23. Luminal Fluid Pellet Derived Supernatant: EAN

Activation Thresholds

A. Increasing EGTA Concentration B. II

B. Increasing Ca2+ Concentration

Pel B-Supernatant									Pel B-Supernatant						
mM Ca2+: mM EGTA:	10 1 0	10 0	10 0.5	10 1.0	10 1.5	10 2.0	10 2.5	mM Ca2+: mM EGTA:	0 2.5	1 2.5	2 2.5	4 2.5	8 2.5	10 2.5	
4															
and a															
- 2															
Lanes:	1	2	2 3	4	5	6	5 7	Lanes:	1	2	3	4	5	6	

(A) Pel B-S was prepared as described in Figure 3.19 and aliquots were then incubated at RT for 10 minutes with increasing concentrations of EGTA: 2, 4, 6, 8, and 10 mM (lanes 3 – 7). Five μ l of each solution, an un-incubated aliquot of Pel B-S (lane 2), and a solution containing only plasmid DNA (lane 1) were then assayed for nuclease activity in the presence of 10 mM Ca²⁺. All samples were analyzed by conventional agarose electrophoresis.

(B) Using the the same prepared solution of Pel B-S from 3.23A; 5 μ l aliquots were separately assayed in solutions of 2.5 mM EGTA with 1, 2, 4, 8, and 10 mM Ca²⁺ (lanes 2 – 6, respectively). A solution without Pel B-S (lane 1) was assayed without Ca²⁺ but with 2.5 mM EGTA as a control. All samples were analyzed by conventional agarose electrophoresis.

experiments, without any EGTA at all, there was no activity (Fig. 3.23a, lane 2) indicating that EGTA and Ca⁺² were both still required. This experiment suggests that EAN is activated by EGTA chelated with Ca⁺².

Next we varied Ca⁺² concentrations in the presence of a constant 2.5 mM EGTA (Fig. 3.23b, second gel, lanes 1-6). EAN from the same preparation of Pel B-Sup used above was not pre-activated with EGTA, but simply added to a buffer containing EGTA, Ca⁺² and DNA. Under these conditions, we would expect a little less than half of the EGTA to be chelated by Ca⁺², but all of the Ca⁺² to be chelated. We found that EAN could digest DNA in the presence of as low as 2 mM Ca⁺² (Fig. 3.23b, lane 3). But, because the large majority of Ca⁺² is chelated to EGTA, once again the most likely possibility is that EAN is activated by Ca⁺²-chelated EGTA.

Together, these experiments suggested that the mechanism by which EGTA functions are that EGTA chelated to Ca⁺² somehow activates the nuclease.

Chapter 4. Discussion

In this work, we have described a novel nuclease, EAN for EGTA Activated Nuclease, that digests DNA in the presence of EGTA and Ca²⁺ in concentrations at which EGTA is saturated by Ca²⁺. This is a unique characteristic in nucleases, as no other enzyme that digests DNA requires the presence of both chelators and ion. This discovery has important implications for both reproductive biology and for nucleic acid biochemistry.

4.1. EAN's Requirement for Both EGTA and Ca²⁺ is Unique Among Nucleases.

EAN is activated by both EGTA and Ca^{2+} , together. There are several nucleases that require binding directly to Ca^{2+} to digest DNA [53, 83, 85]. However, these Ca-dependent nucleases are all inhibited by the presence of EGTA or EDTA, as are most other nucleases, because these chemicals chelate divalent cations that are required co-factors for the nuclease activity [85, 100-102]. This inhibition of nuclease activity is so universal that most buffers used to store DNA include at least EDTA [Maniatis]. There are some bacterial nucleases that can digest DNA in the presence of EDTA, but even these are more active in the presence of the divalent cation, in this case, Mg^{2+} [103-106]. EAN clearly requires the presence of both EGTA and Ca^{2+} (Fig. 3.18).

The divalent cation requirement of EAN is also unique. Many nucleases, the best known of which is DNase 1, require Mg²⁺ [107-109], but Mg²⁺ cannot 69 activate EAN under any conditions, with or without EGTA [89]. In addition to the Ca-dependent nucleases already mentioned, there are also nucleases that require both Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺ [110], but these, too, are inhibited by EDTA.

Moreover, at least one of these, DNASiL3, is actually inhibited by 10 mM Ca²⁺ and 10 mM Mg²⁺, the same concentrations of cation that we routinely used for EAN. EAN can digest DNA in the presence of between 2 and 30 mM Ca²⁺ or Mn²⁺, but not with Mg²⁺ [89]. It is clear that EAN does not have a specific requirement for one particular divalent cation, other than that Mg²⁺ is not active. DNASiL3 has been isolated from bull semen, and we therefore thought it might be EAN, but EAN's requirement for EGTA and its ability to digest DNA in the presence of high concentrations of divalent cation, and the inability of Mg²⁺ to activate EAN all suggest EAN is a different enzyme. EAN's requirement for both a chelator (EGTA or EDTA) and a divalent cation (Ca²⁺ or Mn²⁺) in the same buffer makes it a unique nuclease. The fact that it requires the same chemical that most researchers use to inhibit nucleases may have contributed to the fact that it was not yet described by any other laboratory.

4.2. EAN's Relationship to MCN.

In this study we have described two nucleases, EAN and MCN. Several lines of evidence support a model in which MCN is the normal pathway for activation of EAN, and EGTA short-circuits this endogenous pathway (Fig. 4.1). The first piece of evidence is that both MCN and EAN fractionate in the same way. In each Figure 4.1. Model for EGTA Activation of EAN (EGTA Activated Nuclease)



fraction derived from luminal fluid (Pel A, Sup A, Sup B, Pel B) EAN activity was always present, however, MCN activity was found in Sup A (from which Sup B and Pel B are derived), in Sup B and Pel B, and conditionally in sperm, only when preincubated with Sup A and Mn²⁺ and Ca²⁺.

The second line of evidence that MCN and EAN are the same nuclease activated by different pathways is that they both digest sperm chromatin via a topoisomerase II intermediary. When nuclease activation is studied in a physiologically relevant setting, as in the sperm cell when digesting chromatin DNA, both MCN and EAN models have similar digestion patterns in that both initially execute reversible 50 kb cleavages prior to irreversible digestion [89]. In the somatic cell, topoisomerase II cleaves nuclear DNA at inter-nucleosomal regions, during apoptosis and mitosis, resulting in 50 kb fragments [91], as such, the reversible fragmentation most likely occurs through topoisomerase II [14] and always precedes irreversible digestion by the nuclease, which suggests that the two enzymes are somehow coordinated. A similar phenomenon has been described in the case of topoisomerase II working in conjunction with another nuclease; DNASiL3 [66]. In our work this is most clearly demonstrated by the fact that even the reversible 50 kb fragmentation requires EGTA for activity.

As our data show evidence that Mn^{2+} and Ca^{2+} pretreatment of sperm, when in the presence of Sup A, gives rise to MCN, yet without the pretreatment no MCN is detectable. However, since EAN activity is always present in sperm it is

72

suggestive that Mn²⁺ and Ca²⁺ pretreatment may simply move an activator into the sperm cell. The activator may not necessarily be a protein but another cofactor.

EAN activity rests on the use of EGTA along with other divalent cations, however EGTA is not a natural cofactor usually found in cells. So, even if MCN and EAN are different enzymes, it is likely that EAN is naturally activated by something other than EGTA. These data support, but not prove, that MCN and EAN are the same enzyme activated by either an endogenous (MCN) or artificial (EAN) mechanism.

4.3. Model for EGTA Activation of EAN.

As discussed earlier, the use of a chelating chemical for the suppression of nuclease activity is normally used when handling DNA since most nucleases require a divalent metal cation for activity. In the few instances were nucleases have been described as being resistant to chelating agents, the activity exhibited in the presence of its required cation was higher than when compared to its activity with the chelating chemical [103-106]. Given that EGTA activation is so unique, the question arises as to how does EGTA activate EAN. We will discuss several models, all depicted in Fig. 4.2.

Model 1: We initially interpreted our data to suggest that EGTA activated a signal transduction mechanism, possibly through the release of a protein bound to a calcium binding protein, such as calmodulin [111, 112]. We tested our model by 73

Figure 4.2. Various Models of EAN Activation

Model 1: EGTA Activates a Signal Transduction Pathway



Model 2: EGTA Releases an Inhibitory Binding Protein from EAN



Model 3: EGTA Removes an Inhibitory Cation



Model 4: EGTA Chelated to Ca²⁺ Activates EAN







activating the putative signal transduction mechanism with EGTA, then removing EGTA, and adding Ca²⁺. If this model was correct, removal of EGTA before the addition of Ca²⁺ should not prevent EAN activation because we would not expect such transduction mechanisms to operate in the reverse direction. However, we found no EAN activity in this experiment. We then tested the reversibility of the EGTA activation by again adding EGTA followed by Ca²⁺, which resulted in nuclease activity. This suggested that a signal transduction model is not a correct depiction of the pathway mechanism.

Model 2: The idea that a calcium binding inhibitory protein binds directly to the nuclease was next explored. In this situation the nuclease requires calcium for activity and so addition of EGTA initially removes calcium from solution and so detaches the inhibitory protein from the nuclease. However, calcium is again needed to activate the uninhibited nuclease. We tested this model by adding EGTA to remove calcium, which theoretically should have released the nuclease. After removal of buffer solution, which included all added variables except the nuclease, calcium and DNA was then added. If this model was correct, the uninhibited nuclease would have been activated by calcium and DNA degradation would have ensued. However, the nuclease was not activated, but was activated by re-addition of EGTA along with calcium. Once again, the data do not support the model.

Model 3: It has been suggested that the nuclease is activated due to EGTA chelating an inhibitory divalent cation that contaminates our TKB buffer. This

model for nuclease activation may be possible however we view it as unlikely for two reasons. Our buffers are prepared using de-ionized water and the concentration of a contaminating ion needed to inhibit EAN would be unlikely. Secondly, in our last set of experiments, Ca²⁺ was added in high enough concentrations to saturate EGTA prior to the addition of nuclease, yet EAN was still active. This suggests that very little EGTA was available to chelate any other ions, including a potential unknown cation contaminant, which inhibits EAN.

Model 4: In every experiment involving nuclease in the presence of both EGTA and Ca²⁺, concurrently, EAN was activated. We are left with the possibility that EAN is not activated by the addition, or removal, of divalent cations but by the chelated form of EGTA itself. Two possibilities are depicted in Fig. 4.2. Either EGTA chelated to Ca²⁺ binds directly to EAN, activating it (A), or the chelated EGTA binds to an inhibitory protein releasing it from inhibiting EAN. A third possibility, not shown, is that chelated EGTA binds to EAN competing off the inhibitory protein. We are currently testing this model. It is interesting to note that post-ribosomal modification of glutamic acid in certain proteins produce a modified reside called gamma-carboxy glutamic acid [113-119]. This residue is involved in protein-protein interactions, setting a precedent for our Model 4.

Our data clearly show that EAN can be activated by the presence of EGTA and Ca²⁺, together, in concentrations of the ion that would be expected to be completing chelated in solution. In the course of our work, we rejected several more conservative models for the activation of EAN by EGTA (Models 1 and 2, and

variations thereof) and are left with only two possibilities, depicted as Models 3 and 4. For the reasons we discussed, we feel that our data support most strongly Model 4. But, this is clearly testable, and current experiments in our laboratory are directly focused on testing both of these models.

4.4. Significance of EAN.

EGTA activated nuclease, though activated by exogenous EGTA, may have the physiological purpose of degrading damaged sperm in the vas. As discussed earlier, mature spermatozoa may contain double strand breaks and EAN may serve the purpose of genetic quality control prior to ejaculation and the journey to the oocyte.

For clinical fertility, EGTA has been suggested as a preservative for mouse sperm [100, 102, 120-124] and might be used at some point for human sperm. The existence of EAN would suggest that the use of EGTA may have potentially harmful effects on the genetic integrity of stored spermatozoa under specific, yet unknown, conditions. Thus, the biochemical significance is that the EAN may represent a novel form of nuclease regulation that has not been seen before.

4.5. Summary

In this work we have identified a novel nuclease activity activated by EGTA and Ca²⁺. Additionally, it is probable that the chelated form of EGTA may play an important role in the activation of EAN. Lastly, we have identified a fraction with a high specific activity, from which we hope to purify the enzyme.

Bibliography

- 1. Senger, P., Pathways to pregnancy and parturition. 2004: p. 368.
- Dadoune, J., Expression of mammalian spermatozoal nucleoproteins. Microsc. Res. Tech., 2003. 61(1): p. 56-75.
- 3. Sakkas, D., et al., Nature of DNA damage in ejaculated human spermatozoa and the possible involvement of apoptosis. Biol Reprod, 2002. 66(4): p. 1061-7.
- Biggiogera, M., et al., Immunoelectron microscopical distribution of histones H2B and H3 and protamines in the course of mouse spermiogenesis. Microsc. Res. Tech., 1992. 20(3): p. 259-67.
- 5. Loir, M., et al., Interactions of nuclear proteins with DNA, during sperm differentiation in the ram. Chromosoma, 1985. 92(4): p. 304-12.
- 6. Ward, W.S., Deoxyribonucleic acid loop domain tertiary structure in mammalian spermatozoa. Biol Reprod, 1993. **48**(6): p. 1193-201.
- Haaf, T. and D.C. Ward, Higher order nuclear structure in mammalian sperm revealed by in situ hybridization and extended chromatin fibers. Experimental Cell Research, 1995. 219(2):
 p. 604-11.
- 8. Evenson, D.P., K.L. Larson, and L.K. Jost, Sperm chromatin structure assay: its clinical use for detecting sperm DNA fragmentation in male infertility and comparisons with other techniques. Journal of Andrology, 2002. 23(1): p. 25-43.
- 9. Ward, W.S. and D.S. Coffey, DNA packaging and organization in mammalian spermatozoa: comparison with somatic cells. Biol Reprod, 1991. 44(4): p. 569-74.
- 10. Yanagida, K., et al., Thermostability of sperm nuclei assessed by microinjection into hamster oocytes. Biology of Reproduction, 1991. 44(3): p. 440-7.
- 11. Tateno, H., Y. Kimura, and R.Y. Yanagimachi, Sonication per se is not as deleterious to sperm chromosomes as previously inferred. Biol Reprod, 2000. 63(1): p. 341-6.
- 12. Silvestroni, L., G. Frajese, and M. Fabrizio, *Histones instead of protamines in terminal germ* cells of infertile, oligospermic men. Fertil Steril, 1976. 27(12): p. 1428-37.
- Evenson, D., Alterations and damage of sperm chromatin structure and early embryonic failure. Towards Reproductive Certainty: Fertility & Genetics Beyond 1999: the Plenary Proceedings of the 11th World Congress on In Vitro Fertilization & Human Reproductive Genetics, 1999.
- 14. Shaman, J.A., R. Prisztoka, and W.S. Ward, *Topoisomerase IIB and an extracellular nuclease* interact to digest sperm DNA in an apoptotic-like manner. Biol Reprod, 2006. 75(5): p. 741-8.
- 15. Martinez-Heredia, J., et al., Proteomic identification of human sperm proteins. Proteomics,

2006. 6(15): p. 4356-69.

- Cooper, T.G., Interactions between epididymal secretions and spermatozoa. J Reprod Fertil Suppl, 1998. 53: p. 119-36.
- 17. Dacheux, J., J. Gatti, and F. Dacheux, Contribution of epididymal secretory proteins for spermatozoa maturation. Microsc. Res. Tech., 2003. 61(1): p. 7-17.
- 18. Dacheux, J.L., et al., Epididymal cell secretory activities and the role of proteins in boar sperm maturation. Theriogenology, 2005. 63(2): p. 319-41.
- 19. Marengo, S.R., Maturing the sperm: Unique mechanisms for modifying integral proteins in the sperm plasma membrane. Anim Reprod Sci, 2007.
- Visconti, P.E., et al., Capacitation of mouse spermatozoa. I. Correlation between the capacitation state and protein tyrosine phosphorylation. Development, 1995. 121(4): p. 1129-37.
- 21. Hoppe, P.C., Fertilizing ability of mouse sperm from different epididymal regions and after washing and centrifugation. J Exp Zool, 1975. **192**(2): p. 219-22.
- 22. Yanagimachi, R.Y., et al., Maturation of spermatozoa in the epididymis of the Chinese hamster. American Journal of Anatomy, 1985. 172(4): p. 317-30.
- 23. Ronquist, G. and I. Brody, The prostasome: its secretion and function in man. Biochim
 Biophys Acta, 1985. 822(2): p. 203-18.
- 24. Aumüller, G., et al., The role of apocrine released proteins in the post-testicular regulation of human sperm function. Adv Exp Med Biol, 1997. 424: p. 193-219.
- Aumüller, G., B. Wilhelm, and J. Seitz, *Apocrine secretion--fact or artifact?* Ann Anat, 1999.
 181(5): p. 437-46.
- 26. Saez, F., G. Frenette, and R. Sullivan, *Epididymosomes and prostasomes: their roles in posttesticular maturation of the sperm cells.* Journal of Andrology, 2003. 24(2): p. 149-54.
- 27. Ronquist, G., et al., An Mg2+ and Ca2+-stimulated adenosine triphosphatase in human prostatic fluid: part I. Andrologia, 1978. 10(4): p. 261-72.
- 28. Ronquist, G., et al., An Mg2+ and Ca2+-stimulated adenosine triphosphatase in human prostatic fluid--part II. Andrologia, 1978. 10(6): p. 427-33.
- 29. Ronquist, G. and B. Nilsson, *The Janus-faced nature of prostasomes: their pluripotency favours the normal reproductive process and malignant prostate growth*. Prostate Cancer Prostatic Dis, 2004. 7(1): p. 21-31.
- Frenette, G., C. Lessard, and R. Sullivan, Selected proteins of "prostasome-like particles"
 from epididymal cauda fluid are transferred to epididymal caput spermatozoa in bull. Biology
 of Reproduction, 2002. 67(1): p. 308-13.
- 31. Frenette, G. and R. Sullivan, Prostasome-like particles are involved in the transfer of P25b

from the bovine epididymal fluid to the sperm surface. Mol Reprod Dev, 2001. 59(1): p. 115-21.

- 32. Yeung, C.H., et al., Interaction of the human epididymal protein CD52 (HE5) with epididymal spermatozoa from men and cynomolgus monkeys. Mol Reprod Dev, 1997. **48**(2): p. 267-75.
- 33. Arienti, G., et al., Prostasome to sperm transfer of CD13/aminopeptidase N (EC 3.4.11.2).
 Biochim Biophys Acta, 1997. 1336(3): p. 533-8.
- 34. Arienti, G., et al., Transfer of CD26/dipeptidyl peptidase IV (E.C. 3.5.4.4) from prostasomes to sperm. FEBS Lett, 1997. 410(2-3): p. 343-6.
- 35. Minelli, A., et al., *CD26 and adenosine deaminase interaction: its role in the fusion between* horse membrane vesicles and spermatozoa. Biology of Reproduction, 1999. **61**(3): p. 802-8.
- 36. Sullivan, R., G. Frenette, and J. Girouard, *Epididymosomes are involved in the acquisition of new sperm proteins during epididymal transit.* Asian J Androl, 2007. 9(4): p. 483-91.
- 37. Rejraji, H., P. Vernet, and J.R. Drevet, *GPX5 is present in the mouse caput and cauda* epididymidis lumen at three different locations. Mol Reprod Dev, 2002. 63(1): p. 96-103.
- 38. Hermo, L., R.J. Oko, and C.R. Morales, Secretion and endocytosis in the male reproductive tract: a role in sperm maturation. International Review of Cytology, 1994. 154: p. 106-89.
- 39. Cross, N.L., Role of cholesterol in sperm capacitation. Biology of Reproduction, 1998. 59(1):
 p. 7-11.
- Fabiani, R., Functional and biochemical characteristics of human prostasomes. Minireview
 based on a doctoral thesis. Ups J Med Sci, 1994. 99(2): p. 73-111.
- Arienti, G., et al., Role of human prostasomes in the activation of spermatozoa. J Cell Mol Med, 2004. 8(1): p. 77-84.
- 42. Kirchhoff, C. and G. Hale, Cell-to-cell transfer of glycosylphosphatidylinositol-anchored membrane proteins during sperm maturation. Mol Hum Reprod, 1996. 2(3): p. 177-84.
- Rejraji, H., et al., Lipid remodeling of murine epididymosomes and spermatozoa during epididymal maturation. Biology of Reproduction, 2006. 74(6): p. 1104-13.
- 44. Simons, K. and E. Ikonen, Functional rafts in cell membranes. Nature, 1997. 387(6633): p. 569-72.
- 45. Frenette, G., J. Girouard, and R. Sullivan, Comparison between epididymosomes collected in the intraluminal compartment of the bovine caput and cauda epididymidis. Biology of Reproduction, 2006. 75(6): p. 885-90.
- 46. Martin-DeLeon, P.A., *Epididymal SPAM1 and its impact on sperm function*. Mol Cell Endocrinol, 2006. 250(1-2): p. 114-21.
- 47. Légaré, C., et al., Hamster sperm antigen P26h is a phosphatidylinositol-anchored protein.
 Mol Reprod Dev, 1999. 52(2): p. 225-33.
- 48. Hermo, L. and D. Jacks, Nature's ingenuity: bypassing the classical secretory route via

apocrine secretion. Mol Reprod Dev, 2002. 63(3): p. 394-410.

- 49. Manin, M., et al., Exportation of mouse vas deferens protein, a protein without a signal peptide, from mouse vas deferens epithelium: a model of apocrine secretion. Biology of Reproduction, 1995. 52(1): p. 50-62.
- 50. Baumann, C., et al., AKR1B7 (mouse vas deferens protein) is dispensable for mouse development and reproductive success. Reproduction, 2007. 134(1): p. 97-109.
- 51. Andonian, S. and L. Hermo, *Principal cells of the vas deferens are involved in water transport* and steroid synthesis in the adult rat. Journal of Andrology, 1999. 20(1): p. 158-76.
- 52. Kerr, J.F., A.H. Wyllie, and A.R. Currie, *Apoptosis: a basic biological phenomenon with wide*ranging implications in tissue kinetics. Br J Cancer, 1972. 26(4): p. 239-57.
- 53. Bortner, C.D. and J.A. Cidlowski, *Cell shrinkage and monovalent cation fluxes: role in apoptosis.* Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics, 2007. **462**(2): p. 176-88.
- 54. Liu, X.Y., et al., DFF, a heterodimeric protein that functions downstream of caspase-3 to trigger DNA fragmentation during apoptosis. Cell, 1997. **89**(2): p. 175-**8**4.
- 55. Enari, M., et al., A caspase-activated DNase that degrades DNA during apoptosis, and its inhibitor ICAD. Nature, 1998. 391(6662): p. 43-50.
- 56. Halenbeck, R., et al., CPAN, a human nuclease regulated by the caspase-sensitive inhibitor DFF45. Curr Biol, 1998. 8(9): p. 537-40.
- 57. Solovyan, V.T., et al., The role of topoisomerase II in the excision of DNA loop domains during apoptosis. J Biol Chem, 2002. 277(24): p. 21458-67.
- 58. Durrieu, F., et al., DNA topoisomerase IIalpha interacts with CAD nuclease and is involved in chromatin condensation during apoptotic execution. Curr Biol, 2000. 10(15): p. 923-6.
- 59. Widlak, P., et al., Cleavage preferences of the apoptotic endonuclease DFF40 (caspaseactivated DNase or nuclease) on naked DNA and chromatin substrates. J Biol Chem, 2000. 275(11): p. 8226-32.
- Doonan, F. and T.G. Cotter, Morphological assessment of apoptosis. Methods, 2008. 44(3):
 p. 200-4.
- Parrish, J.Z. and D. Xue, Cuts can kill: the roles of apoptotic nucleases in cell death and animal development. Chromosoma, 2006. 115(2): p. 89-97.
- 62. Rodriguez, I., et al., An early and massive wave of germinal cell apoptosis is required for the development of functional spermatogenesis. EMBO J, 1997. 16(9): p. 2262-70.
- 63. Arama, E., et al., A ubiquitin ligase complex regulates caspase activation during sperm differentiation in Drosophila. Plos Biol, 2007. 5(10): p. e251.
- 64. Zhang, H., et al., Early apoptotic changes in human spermatozoa and their relationships with conventional semen parameters and sperm DNA fragmentation. Asian J Andrology,

2008. 10(2): p. 227-35.

- 65. Hashida, T., et al., Purification and properties of bull seminal plasma Ca2+,Mg2+-dependent endonuclease. J Biol Chem, 1982. 257(21): p. 13114-9.
- Boulares, A.H., et al., The Poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase-1-regulated endonuclease DNAS1L3
 is required for etoposide-induced internucleosomal DNA fragmentation and increases
 etoposide cytotoxicity in transfected osteosarcoma cells. Cancer Res, 2002. 62(15): p. 4439 44.
- 67. Lagarkova, M.A., O.V. Iarovaia, and S.V. Razin, Large-scale fragmentation of mammalian DNA in the course of apoptosis proceeds via excision of chromosomal DNA loops and their oligomers. J Biol Chem, 1995. 270(35): p. 20239-41.
- 68. Stanulla, M., et al., Topoisomerase II inhibitors induce DNA double-strand breaks at a specific site within the AML1 locus. Leukemia, 1997. 11(4): p. 490-6.
- 69. Li, T.K., et al., Activation of topoisomerase II-mediated excision of chromosomal DNA loops during oxidative stress. Genes Dev, 1999. 13(12): p. 1553-60.
- Yang, X., et al., DNA topoisomerase IIbeta and neural development. Science, 2000.
 287(5450): p. 131-4.
- Ju, B., et al., A Topoisomerase IIb–Mediated dsDNA Break Required for Regulated
 Transcription. Science, 2006. 312: p. 1798-1802.
- 72. McPherson, S.M. and F.J. Longo, Nicking of rat spermatid and spermatozoa DNA: possible involvement of DNA topoisomerase II. Dev Biol, 1993. 158(1): p. 122-30.
- 73. Laberge, R.M. and G. Boissonneault, On the nature and origin of DNA strand breaks in elongating spermatids. Biol Reprod, 2005. 73(2): p. 289-96.
- 74. de Lamirande, E. and C. Gagnon, Paradoxical effect of reagents for sulfhydryl and disulfide groups on human sperm capacitation and superoxide production. Free Radic Biol Med, 1998.
 25(7): p. 803-17.
- 75. Aleem, M., et al., Sperm protamine levels as indicators of fertilising potential in sexually mature male rats. Andrologia, 2008. 40(1): p. 29-37.
- Blumenstiel, J.P., Sperm competition can drive a male-biased mutation rate. Journal of Theoretical Biology, 2007. 249(3): p. 624-32.
- 77. Maione, B., et al., Activation of endogenous nucleases in mature sperm cells upon interaction with exogenous DNA. DNA Cell Biol, 1997. 16(9): p. 1087-97.
- 78. Sotolongo, B. and W.S. Ward, DNA loop domain organization: the three-dimensional genomic code. J Cell Biochem Suppl, 2000. Suppl 35: p. 23-6.
- 79. Sotolongo, B., E. Lino, and W.S. Ward, Ability of hamster spermatozoa to digest their own
 DNA. Biology of Reproduction, 2003. 69(6): p. 2029-35.

- 80. Sotolongo, B., et al., An endogenous nuclease in hamster, mouse, and human spermatozoa cleaves DNA into loop-sized fragments. Journal of Andrology, 2005. 26(2): p. 272-80.
- D'Occhio, M.J., K.J. Hengstberger, and S.D. Johnston, Biology of sperm chromatin structure and relationship to male fertility and embryonic survival. Anim Reprod Sci, 2007. 101(1-2): p. 1-17.
- 82. Dominguez, F. and F.J. Cejudo, Identification of a nuclear-localized nuclease from wheat cells undergoing programmed cell death that is able to trigger DNA fragmentation and apoptotic morphology on nuclei from human cells. Biochem J, 2006. 397(3): p. 529-36.
- 83. Schmidt, J.A., G.F. Browning, and P.F. Markham, Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae mhp379 is a
 Ca2+-dependent, sugar-nonspecific exonuclease exposed on the cell surface. Journal of
 Bacteriology, 2007. 189(9): p. 3414-24.
- 84. Jóźwiak, Z. and A. Marczak, [The role of ion channels in apoptosis]. Postepy Biochem, 2006.
 52(4): p. 373-82.
- 85. Ajiro, K., et al., An endogenous calcium-dependent, caspase-independent intranuclear degradation pathway in thymocyte nuclei: Antagonism by physiological concentrations of K(+) ions. Experimental Cell Research, 2008. 314(6): p. 1237-1249.
- 86. Shiokawa, D. and S. Tanuma, *Molecular cloning and expression of a cDNA encoding an apoptotic endonuclease DNase gamma*. Biochem J, 1998. 332 (Pt 3): p. 713-20.
- 87. Polzar, B. and H.G. Mannherz, Nucleotide sequence of a full length cDNA clone encoding the deoxyribonuclease I from the rat parotid gland. Nucleic Acids Res, 1990. 18(23): p. 7151.
- 88. Shak, S., et al., Recombinant human DNase I reduces the viscosity of cystic fibrosis sputum.
 Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 1990.
 87(23): p. 9188-92.
- 89. Boaz, S., et al., Mouse spermatozoa contain a nuclease that is activated by pretreatment with EGTA and subsequent calcium incubation. J Cell Biochem, 2008. 103(5): p. 1636-45.
- 90. Shastina, V.V., et al., Purification and characteristics of Ca2+,Mg2+- and Ca2+,Mn2+dependent and acid DNases from spermatozoa of the sea urchin Strongylocentrotus intermedius. Biochemistry Mosc, 2003. 68(5): p. 582-92.
- 91. Shaman, J. and W. Ward, The Sperm Cell: Production, Maturation, Fertilization,
 Regeneration. Chapter 2: Sperm chromatin stability and susceptibility to damage in relation
 to its structure. The Sperm Cell: Production, Maturation, Fertilization, Regeneration, 2006:
 p. 31-48 of 372.
- 92. Widlak, P. and W.T. Garrard, Discovery, regulation, and action of the major apoptotic nucleases DFF40/CAD and endonuclease G. J Cell Biochem, 2005. 94(6): p. 1078-87.
- 93. Samejima, K. and W.C. Earnshaw, Trashing the genome: the role of nucleases during

apoptosis. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 2005. 6(9): p. 677-88.

- 94. Szczygiel, M.A. and R.Y. Yanagimachi, Intracytoplasmic sperm injection. 2003: p. 585 597.
- 95. Perreault, S.D. and B.R. Zirkin, Sperm nuclear decondensation in mammals: role of spermassociated proteinase in vivo. J Exp Zool, 1982. 224(2): p. 253-7.
- 96. Adenot, P.G., et al., Differential H4 acetylation of paternal and maternal chromatin precedes
 DNA replication and differential transcriptional activity in pronuclei of 1-cell mouse embryos.
 Development, 1997. 124(22): p. 4615-25.
- 97. Aoki, E. and R.M. Schultz, DNA replication in the 1-cell mouse embryo: stimulatory effect of histone acetylation. Zygote, 1999. 7(2): p. 165-72.
- 98. Shaman, J.A., Y. Yamauchi, and W.S. Ward, *The sperm nuclear matrix is required for paternal DNA replication*. J Cell Biochem, 2007. 102(3): p. 680-8.
- 99. Yamauchi, Y., et al., Paternal pronuclear DNA degradation is functionally linked to DNA replication in mouse oocytes. Biol Reprod, 2007. 77(3): p. 407-15.
- 100. Szczygiel, M.A., S. Moisyadi, and W.S. Ward, Expression of foreign DNA is associated with paternal chromosome degradation in intracytoplasmic sperm injection-mediated transgenesis in the mouse. Biol Reprod, 2003. 68(5): p. 1903-10.
- Lamond, S., et al., Gene-specific chromatin damage in human spermatozoa can be blocked by antioxidants that target mitochondria. Reprod Biomed Online, 2003. 7(4): p. 407-18.
- 102. Kusakabe, H., et al., Maintenance of genetic integrity in frozen and freeze-dried mouse spermatozoa. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2001. 98(24): p. 13501-6.
- Grazulis, S., et al., Structure of the metal-independent restriction enzyme BfiI reveals fusion of a specific DNA-binding domain with a nonspecific nuclease. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 2005. 102(44): p. 15797-802.
- 104. Sapranauskas, R., et al., Novel subtype of type IIs restriction enzymes. Bfil endonuclease exhibits similarities to the EDTA-resistant nuclease Nuc of Salmonella typhimurium. J Biol Chem, 2000. 275(40): p. 30878-85.
- 105. Pohlman, R.F., et al., Genetic and biochemical analysis of an endonuclease encoded by the IncN plasmid pKM101. Nucleic Acids Res, 1993. 21(21): p. 4867-72.
- 106. Winans, S.C. and G.C. Walker, Genetic localization and characterization of a pKM101-coded endonuclease. Journal of Bacteriology, 1983. 154(3): p. 1117-25.
- 107. Shiokawa, D. and S. Tanuma, *Characterization of human DNase I family endonucleases and activation of DNase gamma during apoptosis.* Biochemistry, 2001. 40(1): p. 143-52.
- Bendjennat, M., et al., Purification and characterization of Mycoplasma penetrans
 Ca2+/Mg2+-dependent endonuclease. Journal of Bacteriology, 1997. 179(7): p. 2210-20.
- 109. Lackey, D., et al., Characterization of an endonuclease associated with the drug resistance

plasmid pKM101. Journal of Bacteriology, 1977. 131(2): p. 583-8.

- Sunaga, S., et al., A novel inhibitor that protects apoptotic DNA fragmentation catalyzed by
 DNase gamma. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 2004. 325(4): p. 1292-7.
- Ignotz, G.G. and S.S. Suarez, Calcium/calmodulin and calmodulin kinase II stimulate
 hyperactivation in demembranated bovine sperm. Biology of Reproduction, 2005. 73(3): p.
 519-26.
- 112. Chin, E.R., Role of Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent kinases in skeletal muscle plasticity. J Appl Physiol, 2005. 99(2): p. 414-23.
- Whinna, H.C., et al., Role of the gamma-carboxyglutamic acid domain of activated factor X in the presence of calcium during inhibition by antithrombin-heparin. J Thromb Haemost, 2004. 2(7): p. 1127-34.
- 114. Esmon, C.T., The protein C pathway. Chest, 2003. 124(3 Suppl): p. 26S-32S.
- Falls, L.A., et al., The omega-loop region of the human prothrombin gammacarboxyglutamic acid domain penetrates anionic phospholipid membranes. J Biol Chem, 2001. 276(26): p. 23895-902.
- 116. Zhang, L. and F.J. Castellino, The contributions of individual gamma-carboxyglutamic acid residues in the calcium-dependent binding of recombinant human protein C to acidic phospholipid vesicles. J Biol Chem, 1993. 268(16): p. 12040-5.
- n7. Rosing, J., et al., Calcium-independent activation of prothrombin on membranes with positively charged lipids. Biochemistry, 1988. 27(25): p. 9048-55.
- 118. Vermeer, C., et al., *Vitamin K and the urogenital tract*. Haemostasis, 1986. 16(3-4): p. 246-57.
- 119. Vermeer, C., The binding of Gla-containing proteins to phospholipids. FEBS Lett, 1984.
 173(1): p. 169-72.
- 120. Ohsumi, K., C. Katagiri, and R.Y. Yanagimachi, Human sperm nuclei can transform into condensed chromosomes in Xenopus egg extracts. Gamete Research, 1988. 20(1): p. 1-9.
- 121. Szczygiel, M.A. and W.S. Ward, Combination of dithiothreitol and detergent treatment of spermatozoa causes paternal chromosomal damage. Biol Reprod, 2002. 67(5): p. 1532-7.
- 122. Bhowmick, S., et al., Desiccation tolerance of spermatozoa dried at ambient temperature: production of fetal mice. Biol Reprod, 2003. 68(5): p. 1779-86.
- 123. Kaneko, T., D.G. Whittingham, and R.Y. Yanagimachi, Effect of pH value of freeze-drying solution on the chromosome integrity and developmental ability of mouse spermatozoa.
 Biology of Reproduction, 2003. 68(1): p. 136-9.
- 124. Kusakabe, H., R. Yanagimachi, and Y. Kamiguchi, Mouse and human spermatozoa can be freeze-dried without damaging their chromosomes. Hum Reprod, 2008. 23(2): p. 233-9.